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Nova Scotia Museum Library 
Harry Piers Papers 
Ethnology Catalogue: Introduction 

Harry Piers and his papers 
Harry Piers was curator of the Provincial Museum of Nova Scotia (now called the Nova Scotia Museum) from 1899 
until 1940, when he died very suddenly of pneumonia. He kept copious notes on a wide variety of subjects during 
his tenure at the museum, some neatly written out, others dashed down on the backs of envelopes, laundry lists, or 
whatever was handy. His preserved papers also include drafts of manuscripts he was writing, correspondence, and 
copies of historical documents he had been sent by other researchers. 

The catalogue of Piers's Ethnology Papers 
Until 2002, there were two sets of Harry Piers's Papers in the Nova Scotia Museum: an enormous collection in the 
museum library (with a minimalist and often inaccurate catalogue); and a smaller collection, strictly of ethnological 
papers, held in the History Section. In 2002, it was determined that there were documents of ethnological interest in 
the Library holdings as well, including a small section called "Ethnology & Archaeology", and it was decided to 
combine the two collections of ethnological material. This is a conflated catalogue of both sets of documents. The 
archaeological material will be catalogued separately. 

The catalogue features some documents entered in full 
Almost all of the entries are transcribed in full. Each item not transcribed in full says so, immediately after the date 
at the top of the entry. The effort to transcribe all items of immediate interest was made at this time because the 
originals are so fragile that bits are constantly breaking off, and because the editor was planning to retire and wanted 
to ensure accuracy of transcription (30 years of practice at reading Piers' handwriting), and to add any necessary 
editorial comment. An examination of the xeroxes of the originals, which appear at the end of each section, will 
show the difficulty in interpreting Piers's hand, and have been included so that the reader may judge the accuracy of 
the transcription, and see Piers' neat little drawings. 

The catalogue format 
Each document entry begins with the date at the top. The catalogue numbers, found within the references at the end 
of each entry, follow a chronological order within the various categories (Genealogies, Politics, Zoology, etc.). 
Each note has its reference in {} brackets at the end of the item. 

Within the original documents, Harry Piers uses both parentheses () and square brackets [ ], often unnecessarily. 
Annotations and clarifications by Ruth Holmes Whitehead, placed within the original document, are always 
contained in {} brackets. 

In the early 1970s, some of Piers' notes were transcribed and typed up by Brian Preston, History Curator at the 
Nova Scotia Museum. In the few cases where the original document cannot be located, Preston's transcripts are 
used, and the reference at the end of the entry indicates this. In a very few cases, both the Preston transcript and the 
Piers original are mislaid, so entries were made from Whitehead, The Old Man Told Us, 1991; this text was 
compiled beginning in 1978, from Piers originals and Preston transcripts, and includes four or five items now not 
found. This is also indicated in the references at the end of these entries. 

Some notes cover more than one subject. Here the note is filed under the most appropriate section, but appears in 
any other relevant section as a cross-reference. Cross-referencing is indicated next to the date at the beginning of a 
record, and within the reference at the end of the note. 
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Present location of the original documents 
All originals are now housed in the Nova Scotia Museum Library. In addition, some notes or papers of ethnological 
interest, originally entered under other categories, have been extracted and refiled in the Ethnology component of 
the Piers Papers. They are included in this particular catalogue under their new reference numbers, but with their 
original references noted. 

In places, such as the correspondence between Harry Piers and William Ganong, or the voluminous correspondence 
with the Canadian Geological Survey, where it would have been inappropriate to extract the items of ethnological 
significance, the originals have been left in place. Xeroxed and transcribed, however, the content of each appears in 
the ethnology catalogue in the section where they would have belonged. Their references are to their original (and 
present) position within the Piers Papers. 

At present, in the Library, one can find all the Piers references of an ethnological nature in Box Ten of the Piers 
Papers, under "Ethnology", either as originals, or as xeroxes (in the cases of items still filed under other topics.) 

How to view the material 
All originals, whatever their references, have been xeroxed, and housed in the Mi'kmaw Heritage Resource Files in 
the History Section of the Nova Scotia Museum, under historical material from 1900-1999. Two bound copies of 
the printed catalogue, entries and transcriptions together with xeroxes of the original documents, have been prepared 
(one in the History Section, one in the Library). Researchers can now access the information, and see a xerox of 
the original document, without having to handle the fragile originals. 

Mi'kmaw orthography 
You will notice three ways of spelling the tribal identifier and language: Mi 'kmaw, Mi 'kmaq or Micmac. Mi 'kmaq 
(the plural form), or Mi 'kmaw (the singular form), are the preferred spellings today. Prior to the development of the 
modern Francis/Smith orthography for writing in this language, there were many variations in the way this name 
was spelled by English and French writers. Some even split the word, making it Mic Mac. Others, ignorant of the 
fact that this is the plural form, added a final V. (Harry Piers used Micmac and made it plural as Micmacs.) 

There has been some confusion about when to use the plural form in English and when to use the singular. 

Bernie Francis, one of the developers of the Francis/Smith orthography, himself a Mi'kmaw as well as a linguist, 
has clarified this. Here is what he says: 

The tribal name, when used as a noun in English, takes the plural form, Mi'kmaq. One writes and says, "They are 
Mi'kmaq." This is always the case, except when one is speaking of a single person. In that case, the singular form, 
Mi'kmaw, is used. "She is a Mi'kmaw." The language is also called Mi'kmaq when used as a noun: "He speaks 
fluent Mi'kmaq." 

This all changes when the term is used as an adjective. The Mi'kmaw First Nations people now prefer that we all 
get used to seeing and using the singular form, Mi'kmaw, as the adjectival form in English, even when the adjective 
is modifying a plural noun. 

Piers' spelling has been left as is, within his notes. In all other cases, the modern usage is followed. 

This material is presented in three volumes, as the manuscript was too large to admit of wire-binding. 



Things to keep in mind 
Piers began keeping notes on subjects of interest very early on in his career. He would correct information in later 
notes, so there is a certain amount of repetition. Some of this material is inaccurate, and additional clarifications 
have been made, where possible, in the editorial comments. 

Piers often used the Latin term, vide, before a personal name; to mean that his information came from that person 
{vide Maggie Paul 18 April 1926). I have italicized it to avoid confusion. 

The most important thing to remember is that Piers was writing down Mi'kmaw words phonetically, and they would 
not be spelled this way in modem usage; when Piers was writing, the Francis / Smith orthography for writing 
Mi'kmaq had not yet been created, and therefore Piers' spelling of Mi'kmaw words needs upgrading to the Francis / 
Smith system. Bernie Francis has from time to time provided the correct orthography for certain terms, when 
translating other material for the Nova Scotia Museum, but that has not been done for this particular manuscript as a 
whole. 

Within this catalogue, a good percentage of the information came to Harry Piers from a single individual, Jerry 
Lonecloud. (See my notes on Lonecloud at the end of the catalogue.) That means that much of this data is largely 
the opinion of one man, rather than the memories or opinions of many. To believe this material accurate in all 
points would, I feel, be a mistake. On the whole, however, this catalogue is a rich treasure of information on many 
subjects; transcribing documents for it has been a delight and a good way to end my tenure at the Nova Scotia 
Museum. 

Ruth Holmes Whitehead 
Assistant Curator, Ethnology 
December 2002 



Nova Scotia Museum Library 
Harry Piers Papers 
Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies 

n.d. 
{Gravestone inscription:} 
"In Memory of 
Joseph Pennald 
Indian 
by 
William Chearnley 
A.D.1850 
Gone to Deaths call is 
Indian Joe 
Moose deer rejoice 
Here buried rests your 
deadliest foe" 
Buried in the Roman Catholic cemetery, Chester. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1. Col. William Chearnley was Indian Agent for Nova Scotia 
in the 1850s; he used to hunt with Joseph Penall (French, Bernard; Mi'kmaq, Pinal). The William Chearnley papers at the Nova Scotia 
Archives contain some stories about Joseph Penall.} 

n.d. cross-reference 
Story about Indian & Judge 
Mason {sic; Nathan} Hilton, Yarmouth 
Joe Goose (Joe Pennall) of Liverpool, who was over 6 ft. tall 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes." Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, undated. For the complete anecdote, see the Genealogies entry for 17 June 1919, below.} 

n.d 
Micmac Indian Humourous Story 
Mason Hilton {sic; Nathan Hilton}, J.P., of Yarmouth, and Indian Joe Goose (Joe Pennall) of Liverpool, N.S., the latter 
of whom was over 6 feet tall, were the "judge" and "Indian" referred to in the very funny story about the Indian 
saying he could not search all over Hell for Judge . This is a fact. Vide Jerry Lone-cloud who knew them both 
well. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 2. Originally catalogued as "Box Six, History VII, B, 
Notes, N.S. General." } 

n.d. 
"Joe Goose" (Joe Pennall) {from French, Joseph Bernard}, Indian and his wife were found dead alongside road, close to 
an old church site, about 4 miles below Conquerall Bank, on same{?} side, near Bridgewater, Lun. Co. They were 
buried in that churchyard, being the first burial there. (Vide an old Lunenburg woman, who had been at the funeral.) 
Joe Goose is the one who got off the funny story about Not able to search all over hell for Judge Nathan Hilton. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 3.} 

n.d. 
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Francis Paul, chief of Micmac Indians, died at Dartmouth, N.S., on 18th May 1861. It was the wish of the tribe & 
his family to take his remains to Shubenacadie for burial. Vide letter of Capt.. W. Cheamley, paper no. 128, vol. 431 
of Public Records of N.S. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 4.} 

n.d. 
Legends of Paul family written on birch bark 
Mrs. Fray (widow), Gay's River, 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 5. There is nothing in the rest of the Piers Papers, 
unfortunately, to explain this cryptic note.} 

n.d. 
Beale (= Peter) {French, Pierre; Mi'kmaq, Piel) 
Bem-ne-wit (the Micmac name of family) {Peminuit, meaning 'born on the way'; it was the name of an ancestor} 
Bem-ne-we-dock (Peminuitaq} (the family, plural) 
Chief Louis Benjamin Bem-ne-wit (Paul); Chief from 1814 
Chief Francis Bem-ne-wit (Paul), brother of L. Benjamin, resigned {illegible word follows} 
Chief James Bem-ne-wit (Paul); Chief from 1856, no family {he had children, but they predeceased him} 
John Noel, stepson {of James Paul} 
Red (war), blue (sky), white (peace), black (sun, or eclipse when Christ was crucified). 
{Here Piers is adding notes about the beads in a woven belt which Jerry Lonecloud was describing to him.} 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 6. Originally catalogued as "Box Seven, IX, Biography & 
Genealogy, B: Notes."} 

n.d. 
{This is a family tree of brothers in the Peminuit Paul family, with additions in pencil (here in brackets) later made by Ruth Whitehead} 
Brothers 
Chief {Louis Benjamin Peminuit} Paul (chief before Chief Francis Paul), elected 1814, d. 1843-4 {father of Jacques Pierre 

Peminuit Paul, call Sak Piel Saqmaw or James Peter Paul} 
{"Jean Lucien Peminuit Paul, alive in 1814" inserted in pencil on original, by Ruth Whitehead in 1978.} 
Chief Francis {Francis Peminuit} Paul, chief in 1842 (died at Dartmouth, 18 May 1861) 
Goreham Paul {Gorham Peminuit Paul}, living at Shubenacadie Reserve in May 1842. Holds rank next to the chief & 

above the Captains, a place which answer to our idea of Major, though they do not use the word. 
Peter Paul {sic; this should read "Louis Peminuit Paul"}. Brother of Chief Francis Paul & of the late (former) Chief. Peter 

Paul is {was}"Judge of the Tribe", hearing all causes and settling all points of Micmac Law without fee or 
reward. {He was succeeded as Judge by his son Christopher Paul, father of "Big Peter" Paul.} 

See Joseph Howe's report of visit to Hants Co. Reservation, 11 May 1842. P. 64, 65, 68 of Vol. 432, Public 
Records of Nova Scotia {now in the Nova Scotia Archives & Records Management collection, Halifax}. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 7.} 

n.d 
Recent Chiefs of Micmac According to present chief John Noel {added later: "d. 1911"}. 
Chief Samuel Paul (called Benjamin Paul) 
Chief James Paul (son of above) 
Chief John Noel. 
{Added later:} was it not Chief Samuel Paul who received medallion from the Pope? 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 8.} 

n.d. 
Chief John Noel tells me that during the winter of 1820, the squaw of Joseph Louis (lu-we) was crossing the 
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harbour near Charlottetown, P.E.I., with her infant son (Peter Louis, who died about 1905), strapped and wrapped in 
an Indian cradle at her back. The mother was overcome with the intense cold and died from exposure, being found 
frozen stiff the next morning, but the infant on being unwrapped was apparently little, if any, affected by the cold. 
Chief Noel assures me positively this is correct. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 9. Present location undetermined. Transcribed from 
Whitehead, Old Man Told Us, who saw it in 1978 as a Preston transcript.} 

n.d. 
Peter Cope (who married a Salome {Jerome}) and fought with Bear in Sheet Harbour Woods. 
This Peter Cope met a bear in Sheet Harbour Woods and fired at it, hitting it. It ran off. Then it set up on its 
haunches and began to lick wound on its foreleg. Then it lay down and Cope thought it was dead. He stood his gun 
against a tree and went up to the bear and kicked it. The bear sprung at him, and a fierce struggle began. Cope had 
only his sheath knife & could not get it. Bear tore Cope's arms and chest with its claws. It had its mouth wide 
open. Cope saw that his only chance for life was to use some uncommon tactics. He waited a chance when bear's 
mouth was very wide open, and then suddenly rammed his right hand (he was a very strong man) down the animal's 
throat, and gripped the base of the tongue. Some say he tore out the bear's tongue, but this was not so. He gripped 
the base of the tongue till the bear was smothered. Left bear's carcass & went home, at Sheet Harbour Road, and 
when arrived there was covered with blood. His wife doctored him, and he was three months on his back as result 
of this straggle for life. They used to like bear's meat, but Mrs. Cope went to where the bear's carcass was, and 
chopped it all up with an axe, and threw the pieces about. {Treating the bear's body disrespectfully guaranteed it would not 
reincarnate in that neighborhood.} This Peter Cope was grandfather of the present Joe Cope of Enfield, who told me this 
story as told to him by his father Peter Cope. 

{Cope Family Tree} 
Bernard Cope, not known who he married 
{Bernard may have been the son of Major Jean-Baptiste Cope, 
or the son of one of J-B's daughters.} 

Peter Joe Cope Peter Cope of Sheet Harbour Road John {Noel} Cope 
great hunter married {a} Salome, Mattio Salome's father's sister shot 25 moose in one week 

of Sherbrooke way. (He had struggle with her.) {it was really only 18} 

I 
Peter Cope{Jr.} of Sheet Harbour Road and Dartmouth 
where he died aged 97; married Louise Paul of Ship Harbour Lake 

Joe C. Cope (big nose), Is' Indian photographer. 
who was born at 5 a.m. Easter Sunday, 1859, now 67 years old. 
{"Big Nose" was Joe C. Cope's nickname.} 

{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 10.} 

n.d. 
{Autograph, in his own handwriting:} 
Chief John Noel 
Halifax N.S. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 11.} 

1907 
John Noel, Chief of Micmacs, was bom 3 May 1829. His wife was born 16 October about 1822? {This information is 
repeated at right angles to the text, perhaps written in a hurry earlier and more formally later. Below the note, Piers has subtracted 86 from 1907, 
to get 21 (1821), her putative birthdate}. 
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{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 12.} 

March 1908 
John Williams died about 15 years ago at Indian Settlement near Shubenacadie. 
Chief John Noel's lsl wife was a Pennall from near Chester. His second wife was the widow of Peter Saac {Sack} 
whose son is Isaac Saac. She was a Thomas by birth {Marie Antoinette Thomas}, 
{on reverse of paper, crossed out:} 
Peter Louis died 2 yrs ago. Father Joseph Louis. Near Charlottetown Mother frozen to death & next morning child 
all right. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 13.} 

1910 
Chief John Noel born 1829, 3 May. 81 years old on 3 May 1910. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 14.} 

1910 
Jerry Bartlett = Lone cloud 
Sling shot 
John Noel lives on Indian Reserve about 1 mile sw of Mill Village, and 3 1/4 mile west of Shubenacadie Station, 
Hants Co., N.S. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 15.} 

7 June 1911 
John Noel buried at Shubenacadie. Two weeks ago yesterday 23 May 1911. Died on Sat., 20 May 1911. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 16.} 

15 March 1913 
Peter Paul (called "Big Peter Paul" to distinguish him from Peter Paul, a Cape Breton Indian who lives near the 
Brewery at Dartmouth) was elected Chief of the Micmac Indians of Halifax, Lunenburg, Kings, Hants, Colchester 
& Cumberland Counties, at a small gathering of Indians held for the purpose at Spring Brook Reserve, near 
Shubenacadie, Hants Co., on Saturday, 27 July 1912. At the same meeting John MacDonald was elected a captain. 
On the morning of Saturday, 15 March 1913, Chief Peter Paul, accompanied by Captain John MacDonald, Captain 
(?) Lone Cloud (Jerry Bartlett) and Martin Saac {French, Jacques-, Mi'kmaq, Sak, as a surname, spelled Sack in Nova Scotia, Sock 
in New Brunswick, and Sark in PEi} (the latter a nephew of Isaac Saac, the last {Isaac} a step-son of late Chief John Noel), 
came to Halifax and went to Archbishop McCarthy's residence on Dresden Row, where at 10 o'clock, he and the 
rest of the company kneeling, received His Grace's blessing, was invested with the gilt medallion of the Pope which 
the late Chief Noel had worn, was exhorted to perform his duties as chief in an upright, faithful manner, and to 
attend the services of the Roman Catholic Church and to tell {say} his beads regularly even when unable to attend 
chapel, etc. Candles were lighted dining this ceremony. Then the Archbishop shook hands with the party. The 
silver medal of George III was not given to the chief on this occasion. 
The party came to the museum at 10:24 o'c. and the new chief was introduced to me. None of them were in the 
native uniform, merely old homespun clothes, the chief with an umbrella! Chief Peter Paul, who succeeds Chief 
John Noel, was born at Indian Reserve, Shubenacadie, on 10 May 1850, and will be 60 years of age on 10 May 
1913. He is a son of Christopher Paul. At 25 years of age (i.e. 1875) Peter Paul was made a captain for Chief 
James Paul of Shubenacadie (step-father of Chief John Noel), and was afterwards first captain for Chief John Noel. 
(Vide information furnished by Chief Peter Paul, to H. Piers, 15 March, 1913.) It is possible he may add the name 
Stephen (Peter Stephen Paul) to his name to distinguish him from the other Peter Paul; but if so the name is merely 
an assumed one. 



Lone Cloud informs me that the Bear River Chieftainship has been chiefly in the Meuse family. Chief Meuse of 
Bear River is known as the "Governor Chief' for some reason, perhaps as Lonecloud says, because he once went to 
England and was introduced to the Queen who gave him a medal. {This was his grandfather, Andre Meuse, who went to 
England, met King William and Queen Adelaide, and was given a medal.} The Shubenacadie chief {s} have been Pauls. The 
distinct idea is to keep the Shubenacadie chieftainship in the Paul family. Chief Noel was a step-son of Chief James 
Paul. Lone Cloud says it is correct that Chief Noel used to have a feather headdress of eagle or some such feathers, 
but it is not now in existence, & he thinks Noel must have sold it to some Yankee. He thinks there was once a 
bigger older silver medal than the Geo. Ill one, but it seems it is now gone. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 17. Cross-referenced to Politics.} 

12 April 1913 
{Autograph, signed:} Peter Paul 
{Piers' note:} Chief of Micmac Indians at Halifax, Lunenburg, Kings, Hants, Colchester & Cumberland Counties, 
Nova Scotia. 12 April, 1913. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 18.} 

1 May 1913 
1814 Medal (Judge's) 
Given to Lewie {Louis} Paul, grandfather of present Chief Peter Paul. Diameter 2.98. 
. 11 {inches} thick at edge. 
Joe Handley Meuse 

I 
Jas. Meuse died about 2 weeks ago 
(say about 17 April 1913). 

He was Governor Chief at Bear River. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 19. Cross-referenced to Material Culture, Costumes. 
"Handley" is from the French, Andre; Mi'kmaq Antle\ written formerly as "Handley" by the English.} 

{1 May?}1913 
Story belt 
Alenopsqua spee soon 
Chief Joe Handley Meuse of Bear River & his wife {sic}, was the first chief to go before Queen Victoria, and so was 
called the "Governor Chief' as well as his successors. 

I 
Chief Jim (James) Meuse 
now of Bear River 
Died about 16 April 1913 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 20.} 

1914? 
Jerry Lonecloud, Indian, was at Niagara Falls when he was about 6 or 7 years of age. Was again at Niagara Falls in 
1885, and went by train from there to New York to see General U. S. Grant's funeral which took place on 8 August 
1885. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 21.} 

11 June 1914 
{family tree, in ink and red pencil} 
Micmac Indian "Dr." Jerry Lonecloud: Jerry Bartlett {Germain Alexis or Slme'n Laksi}, now known as "Doctor" Jerry 
Lonecloud, Micmac Indian of Nova Scotia, was born at Belfast, Maine, USA, on 4 July 1846 (the same day the City 
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17 February 1915 cross-reference 
{Newspaper clipping; Echo, Halifax, NS, 17 February 1915.} 
HAPPY HUNTING GROUND 
John Paul, a famous old Indian guide of considerable ability as a moose hunter, and well known throughout all parts 
of the Province, after a protracted illness at the Indian Settlement, Pictou Landing, has been called to the Happy 
Hunting Grounds. John had many good qualities, but like all his race, some not so good, says the New Glasgow 
Enterprise. In camp he was nature's gentleman. Not an oath or a foul word ever escaped his lips, and his 
enterprising yarns, before the camp fires at night, when he entertained his hunting friends, showed his wonderful 
powers of imagination and invention in his visionary episodes of his own wonderful exploits, but when "Firewater" 
was passed around John never could be induced to partake. In this respect he was phenomenal. Committing 
therefore to oblivion all his paramount foibles his life long conquest of the ruling passion of his race might be 
inscribed on his tombstone - if ever he gets one. John Paul had the honor to be a guide to the late King Edward 
while on a moose hunting expedition out to Caledonia, when he was Prince of Wales, on a visit to Nova Scotia; also 
to many governors and great men. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 17 February 1915.} 

13 March 1915 
Marl-nan-ette {Marie Antoinette Thomas, wife of Peter Sack and of John Noel} "our old great mother" 
The death occurred at Indian Reserve, Shubenacadie, on Thursday last (11 March 1915, of old age) of Mary Noel, 
widow of the late Chief John Noel of the Micmac Indians, at the venerable age of about 93 years. She was 
universally respected by both white men and Indians, to the latter of whom she was always known as Marl-nanette, 
and was also lovingly spoken of among the tribe as "our old great mother." She had been a Thomas, and her 
grandfather set mink traps on the site where Halifax now stands. She had been twice married; her first husband was 
a Sack, by whom she had a son Isaac who is now a captain in the tribe. She will be buried today at Indian Reserve. 
Harry Piers {for the Halifax newspaper} Mail, 13 March 1915. {in red pencil:} Death of Mary Noel. 
1915 - 93 = 1 8 2 2 {Piers is figuring her age.} 
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{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 23. Marie Antoinette Thomas had more than one child by 
Peter Sack, others were Martin, Henry, Benjamin, Richard and Catherine Sack, who married Stephen Maloney. Max Basque to Ruth Whitehead, 
personal communication, 1976. Isaac Sack was Max Basque's grandfather. Alan Knockwood to Ruth Whitehead, personal communication, 
November 2002. Alan is the son of Max Basque.} 

6 October 1915 cross-reference 
{not transcribed} 
Correspondence, hand-written, 2 pages, 6 October 1915; from David Ross McCord, KC, at the McCord National 
Museum, Temple Grove, Montreal; to Harry Piers, Provincial Museum, Halifax, NS; requesting information on the 
place of residence of Louis Petitpas. {Louis-Benjamin Petitpas was the son of Claude Petitpas and his Mi'kmaw wife; Louis's older 
brother Barthelemy acted as Mi'kmaw translator for the Abbe Maillard. After Barthelemy was kidnapped and hanged by the English at Boston, 
Louis-Benjamin translated for Maillard until the latter's death in Halifax in 1761. 1 think that Louis-Benjamin Peminuit Paul was named for 
Louis-Benjamin Petitpas. See Claude Petitpas and family, as "Petispas", on the LaChasse Census of 1708.} 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Seven, IX, Biography & Genealogy, A: Correspondence." Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 6 October 1915.} 
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4 December 1916 cross-reference 
Elmsdale, N.S. 4th December 1916 
A.J. Boyd, Esq. Indian Superintendant 
River Bourgeois, N.S. 
Sir, I beg to acknowledge receipt of your letter of the 24th ult., and in reply give herewith the names and ages of my 
children as therein requested: 
Rosie, aged 26 
Mary Ann, aged 24 
Jerry, aged 16 
Hannah, aged 14 
Elizabeth, aged 12 
Lewie, aged 8. 
My own age is 69, and that of my wife, Elizabeth, is 49. I hope this will finally close this matter in a satisfactory 
manner. Your obedient servant, 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: DIA Correspondence, 7. Jerry Lonecloud to Angus Boyd, Department of 
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1. Frank Brooks, the well known oar-maker, an old man aged 71 years. 
2. Mrs. William Nevins, aged about 73 years; burnt to death. 
3. Mrs. William Paul, aged about 37 years. 
4. Janet Glode, aged about 32 years, belonged to Milton, Queens County, N.S. 
5. Rosie, daughter of Jerry Lonecloud (Bartlett), aged 30 years. {Rosie elsewhere is reported bom in 1890, so she may 

have been only 27 at the time of her death. She was married to Jim MacDonald of Sherbrooke, and they had three children: Harvey, 
Murray and Mary Elizabeth, named for her maternal grandmother. Harvey and Mary Elizabeth were badly burned in the explosion. 
After her recovery, Mary Elizabeth was placed by her two brothers in the Catholic Orphanage in Halifax. She never saw any of her 
family members again.} 

6. Hannah, daughter of Jerry Lonecloud (Bartlett), aged 15 years. 
7. Only son of Isaac Saac {Max Basque, grandson of Isaac Sack, said this should read 'only son of Isaac Paul'}, aged about 15 

years. 
8. Ben Labrador, aged about 13 years; burnt to death (burnt up). He was a son of Louis Labrador of Milton, 

Queens Co., N.S. 
9. Richard Nevin's baby. 
Six of the Indian victims of the disaster were buried in one grave in the Roman Catholic cemetery at Dartmouth, on 
Thurs., 20th Dec., the Rev. Father Underwood officiating, and a large number of Indians following the remains. 
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Rosie, daughter of Jerry Lone Cloud, had been pinned beneath timbers, but not instantly killed. She asked that she 
might see a priest. She died later. 
The Relief Committee is building houses for the surviving Indians near the school-house adjoining the late 
settlement. They have received food, clothing and shelter from the Dartmouth Committee. 
Jerry Lone Cloud was at Kentville, N.S., at time of explosion, but he immediately returned on a relief train, and 
reached Dartmouth that evening by walking all the way from Windsor Junction. His wife was also absent, in 
south-eastern New Brunswick. Lone Cloud himself is at present quartered at 145 Upper Water Street, Halifax. 
The Indians greatly regret the death of their school teacher (a white man) named George F. Richardson of Halifax, 
who was apparently instantly killed by the explosion on the Halifax side, probably when about to proceed to 
Dartmouth by the Hanover Street ferry-boat. He had done good work at the Indian school at Tufts Cove, and was 
also a pianist of considerable skill (was the pianist of the King Edward Theatre, Halifax). 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 31.} 

3 January 1918 cross-reference 
Lone Cloud, Indian, once killed 14 moose in one season near Liscomb. Another time he was killing a number of 
moose about there, and the Game Society thought he was selling the meat to the Lumber camp. They had two game 
wardens sent there to watch him. At length he was arrested and jailed in Guysborough town. Lone Cloud 
overheard the jailor and another man in next room say they would not hold a Game Society prisoner for more than 
24 hours. That night they left the door unlocked, and Lone Cloud, who at first pretended to be asleep {sic}. He got 
up and walked out and got away. [This may have been sometime about 1890 or thereabouts.] 
Vide Lone Cloud 3 Jan. 1918 
Large Moose Horns, 62 'A inches 
The largest moose homs Lone Cloud ever got, and one of the largest ever got in Nova Scotia, measured 62 Vi inches 
across the homs, which were very perfect. He sold the head, unmounted, for $50.00 to a clergyman of Truro, who 
got Henry O'Leary, taxidermist of East Quoddy, N.S., to mount it. It was shown at St. Louis Exhibition {1900} and 
given a prize. O'Leary has a photograph of it. The skin afterward got bad, and O'Leary placed a cow-moose-skin 
in place of the original skin. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Seven, IX, Biography & Genealogy, A: Correspondence." 
Cross-referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 3 January 1918.} 



{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Seven, IX, Biography & Genealogy, A: Correspondence." 
Cross-referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 3 January 1918.} 

3 January 1918 cross-reference 
Lord Dunraven, with probably one or two other Englishmen, and with John Williams & Stephen Maloney, Indians, 
as guides, over killed 16 caribou in a bog which was afterwards called Dunraven's Bog, in Queens Co., not very far 
from Silver Lake (about 20 miles northward of Cape Negro station, I think). He kept only the best heads, and made 
the Indians cut holes in ice, and dispose of the carcases in the holes. Wrote a book & claimed to be a great 
sportsman. The Indians afterward told about the slaughter, & it caused much criticism and later led to the 
establishment of the Game Society & laws being made. This was about 50 years ago, according to Lone Cloud, 
Indian. Dunraven no doubt got many moose too. Vide Lone Cloud, 3 Jan. 1918. 
(Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Seven, IX, Biography & Genealogy, A: Correspondence." 
Cross-referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 3 January 1918.} 

February 1918 
{Correspondence, hand-written draft by Harry Piers, February 1918; from Jerry Lonecloud, 145 Upper Water Street, Halifax, NS; to Sophie 
North, Arlington, MA.} 
Mrs. Oscar North, Hair-dresser, Arlington, Mass. 
Dear Sophie, I know you must have heard of the terrible explosion which occurred in Halifax Harbour on 6th 
December, which destroyed a large part of Halifax, and entirely wiped out the Indian encampment which was 
directly opposite to it. Two of my children, Rosie and Hannah, who you will remember, were killed and all my 
things destroyed, but I escaped as I was in another part of the province. I wonder if you and some of your good 
friends would be willing to assist me at this very hard period in my life? Any aid you may be able to give will be 
very greatly appreciated by and do much good to, 
Yours truly, 
Jerry Lonecloud 
145 Upper Water Street, Halifax 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 33.} 

16 February 1918 cross-reference 
Sportsmen in Nova Scotia 
About 40 years ago (say about 1877) a Mr. Fiddler {Viddier} and his wife, who had large sheep ranch in Australia 
were in Nova Scotia, and had a store at Sherbrooke. He hunted much in Guysborough, Halifax and Hants Co., but 
not in western counties. Had camps (or log cabins) in various places, one near Grand Lake. Had a white man as 
guide. Indian Abraham Barss, now dead, was a sort of body servant, or perhaps cook for him. They also went 
hunting caribou in Nfld. Fiddler took Barss with him to Australia, but Barss got homesick there & came back to 
Nova Scotia. Fiddler apparently sometimes lived or boarded in Halifax. (Vide Jerry Lone Cloud, 16 Feb. 1918.) 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi 'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 16 February 1918.} 

19 February 1918 
Micmac Indians. 
Death of old blind Ben Morris, Indian, 19 Feb. 1918 
Ben Morris, a very aged and well-known Micmac Indian, died at Three-Mile Plains, near Windsor, NS, on 19 
February 1918, aged 95 years. He was born about 1823 at Shag Bay near Halifax. The correct name of his family 
was Mollise {French, Maurice; Mi'kmaq, Moli's}, which had been Corrupted by white men {Englishmen} to Morris. His 
father, Sebmolie {French, Joseph Marie-, Mi'kmaq, Sosep Mali) Mollise, and grandfather, had camped for very many years 
at the outlet of Morris's Lake (back of the Asylum), near Dartmouth, the latter being named after this Indian family. 
It is said that the family also had rights on what is now McNab's Island. Ben lived for fifty or sixty years at Shag 
Bay, and hunted and fished in the vicinity of Nine-Mile River where game was then plentiful. He then lived at 
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Dartmouth for a few years (4 or 5 years), and while there became totally blind, and was led about by one of his 
children, he being a familiar figure about the town. From Dartmouth he moved to his son's place at Three-Mile 
Plain, Windsor, where he resided until his death at an extreme old age. A nephew of his is serving his king in the 
overseas forces. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 34.} 

25 February 1918 
{Correspondence, handwritten draft by Harry Piers, 25 February 1918; from Elizabeth Paul, Tufts Cove, Dartmouth, NS; to Private Abram Paul, 
London, England.} 
No. 470813 Private Abram Paul 
25th Battalion (formerly 64th), Canadians 
c/o Army Post Office 
London, England 
Dear Nephew Gabe, {"Abram" crossed out, and "Nephew Gabe" substituted} 
We are very sorry to hear that you have been in hospital suffering with shell shock, and hope that you are now better 
and able to be about, as they tell us you were admitted to hospital in 18 November. My daughter Mary Anne died 
three weeks after you went across. You will be sorry to learn that Kathy Francis and her baby died last fall. Her 
father and mother are also dead. 
I suppose you have heard of the very bad explosion which took place at Richmond, Halifax, on 6 Dec'r, when two 
steamers collided and one blew up killing nearly 2,000 people about Richmond and Dartmouth. The Indian 
settlement at Tufts Cove was destroyed and several Indians killed. My daughters, Rosie {after "Rosie" Piers has crossed 
out the phrase "suffered such injuries that she died soon afterwards"} and Hannah, were killed. The Indians were buried in the 
cemetery in Dartmouth, there being a large funeral. 
As you know I am the one who is your nearest relative, and if you could see your way to be able to assist me in any 
way, I would be very glad. 
Let us know from time to time how you are getting along, as we would like to know of your welfare. 
With best wishes, your aunt, {added later, in a different ink: "[Mrs. Lonecloud]"}, Tufts Cove, Dartmouth, N.S. 25 Feb. 1918. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 35. Piers may have drafted, and then typed, this letter at the 
behest of Jerry Lonecloud, for his wife Elizabeth Paul.} 

9 March 1918 
{Notes for Accession 4586:} 
Micmacs Received 9 March, 1918 
Photograph of Micmac Indian, Isaac Paul, of Indian settlement at Morris's Lake, Cole Harbour, Hx. Co., N.S.; 
photographed in 1891 by Micmac Indian Joe Cope {the first Micmac professional photographer}, at Red Bridge, First 
Dartmouth Lake, Dartmouth, Hx. Co., N.S., who was son of Captain Peter Cope of Red Bridge. {Signed in pencil, "Joe 
Cope, Photographer."} 
{Subject:} Isaac Paul was son of Peter Paul. Isaac Paul lived at Morris's Lake near Cole Harbour, and died about 20 
years ago, say about 1898. {He died of tuberculosis.} 
{Photographer:} Joe Cope, who was the first Micmac Indian who took up photography, and probably the only one so 
far: was then {"about 1891"} living with his father, Capt. Peter Cope, at Red Bridge, Dartmouth. Joe took many 
photographs, during 2 or 3 years, including many portraits of Indians, who were bad pay. When he could not afford 
to buy chemicals for his work, he gave it up. Joe Cope was well-educated and could write well. For a time he was 
employed in {the railway} baggage-room in Halifax. He now is camping 6 or 7 miles above Bridgewater, being now 
interested in prospecting for minerals. No doubt he was born at Dartmouth. 
{Cope Family History:} Joe Cope's father, Capt. Peter Cope, was born in Cape Breton, N.S., and then came to Red 
Bridge, Dartmouth. He once went by himself to England to see the Queen, but was not able to meet her, only 
catching a glimpse of her as she passed in a carriage. He had arranged to go with Chief John Noel, but the latter did 
not go. Sir Chas Tupper had been applied to, to try to interest him in this matter. When Peter came back from 
England, he built a rather large house on side of road at Red Bridge, Dartmouth. Later in life he moved to a son's 
place at Enfield, Hants County, N.S., where he died about 4 or 5 years ago [say about 1913], at age of 97 years, but 
"as smart as a cricket." Peter said the original name of this Cope family was Nowlan, but it is said when some Lord 
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Cope was in Nova Scotia, they took the name of Cope. Nowlan in Micmac is Now-way-ock {Nawea'q}. Nowlan's 
Head (once a camping-ground, near Quoddy) was named for Indian Nowlan family.... 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 36. This is the rough draft of the Accession Record for the 
item, which adds "He is the Indian 'Joe C. Cope' of Mossman's Grant, 10 miles above Bridgewater, Lunenburg County, N.S., who on 7 March 
1916, sent to H. Piers a letter and drawings describing a device for guiding bombs dropped from aeroplanes, which he had devised, and which he 
had constructed a demonstration piece of apparatus. He says, "I am one of your Halifax Micmac Indians, unfortunately too old to shoulder 
musket to defend my King and Country, but if my idea or invention is of any use, I will gladly offer it to my King and Country free of charge." 
Cope's letter and drawings were forwarded on 11 March 1916 by H. Piers to the Comptroller of Munitions Inventions, London, England; and on 
6 April the Comptroller sent to Cope a long and appreciative letter, which also pointed out in detail the weak points in Cope's device. (See these 
documents below, under Memoirs & Manuscripts.) 
Under Accession 4012, Captain Peter Cope's father, an Irishman named Nowlan, is said to have been of mixed race, and after whom Nowlan's 
Head was named. Peter Cope took his mother's name of Cope. His own wife was Mollie Louise Paul of Ship Harbour. 
Under Accession 4012, Lonecloud says that this "Colonel" Peter Cope died at age of 96 years in 1912, which would make his birth about 1816. 
Piers's search for a "Lord Cope" turned up Sir John Coape Sherbrooke, governor of Nova Scotia from 1811 to 1816, which suggests that he 
might be the so-called Lord Cope referred to above; "but this Indian name Cope is much older than that, as the well-known Micmac Chief, 
Major Jean-Baptiste Cope was at Chignecto in 1750 (vide Akin's Archives ofN.S., p. 195), and entered into a treaty of peace with Government 
at Halifax, 22 Novemberl752 (ditto, p. 683), and is again referred to in 1754 (p. 210) etc." (Piers had been told by someone whose name he 
could not remember that Peter Cope may have been a grandson of Jean-Baptiste Cope.) "Major Henry Cope was a member of H.M. Council at 
Annapolis, N.S., in 1732 (ditto, p. 97)." Regardless of all these English Coapes and Copes, this name is Mi'kmaq, and appears first on the 1708 
LaChasse Census, with the entry for Port Royal of Paul Cope, his wife, and Jean-Baptiste Cope, aged 10, his son; as well as names for several 
Cope daughters. The name probably derives from the Mi'kmaq for "beaver": kopit.} 

12 April 1918 
Death of Chief John Denny of Cape Breton, 12,h April, 1918. 
The death occurred on 12th April, at the Micmac Indian reservation, Church Island, Whycocomagh, of John Denny, 
Chief of the Micmac Tribe of the Island of Cape Breton. His jurisdiction in the tribe included the whole of that 
island. He was seventy-four years of age, a native of Whycocomagh, and had been chief for about forty years. The 
chieftainship of Cape Breton, although {by} election as on the mainland of Nova Scotia, yet has always within the 
memory of man been in the Denny family, and the deceased had succeeded his father, also John Denny, in the 
office. It is the intention of his tribe to give him a largely attended funeral. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 37.} 

6 September 1918 
Micmacs. Death of John Cope, Indian, 31 Aug. 1918 
The death occurred at Stewarts, Upper Musquodoboit, on 31st August, of an old and well-known Indian, John 
Cope, at the age of 71 years, he having been born at Beaver Dam, Halifax County, in April 1847, son of old Mollie 
Cope who is said to have been 113 years of age when she passed away about 13 years ago. The original Micmac 
name of the family was not Cope, but Bolmoltie, which means "a clear space." {Bernie Francis thinks 'Bolmaltie' was 
originally French 'Paul Martin'; it certainly does not mean a 'clear space'.} John Cope had considerable fame as a hunter, at least 
judging by the number of moose he shot, and acted as guide for various Halifax sportsmen some thirty years ago. 
He used to hunt back of Beaver Dam and Mooseland with Captain C. Lestrange, who was formerly well-known 
here. One winter, probably forty years ago, Cope by himself killed eighteen moose, according to his own 
admission, although the claim has been erroneously made that the number was seventy. The meat of these he sold 
to the Fifteen-Mile Stream gold camp, which was then in active operation. He was then camping at Indian Rips at 
the head of Hunting Lake on Liscomb River. He was a big man, of unprepossessing appearance, but a genuine 
Indian in all respects. Vide Jerry Lone Cloud, 6 Sept. 1918. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 38.} 

18 November 1918 
{partially transcribed} 
Newspaper clipping. The Echo {Daily Echo"'), Halifax, N.S., 18 November 1918. Taken from the North Sydney 
Herald. Headline: "N.S. Micmac the Best of Snipers: Stephen Toney Earned Many Honors Overseas — Inherited 
His Keen Eye From His Athletic Father." No author credit. "So deadly was the constant fire of the Hun snipers 
that it was certain death for any of the Allies entrenched to pop their head above the parapet for even a second. 
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Stephen Toney {was positioned} some distance down the line, and upon the solicitation of an officer who knew of the 
Indian's powers as a sniper, the General sent for him. It was not long after that the keen eye of the Nyanza Micmac 
discerned a suspicious object in a tree fully one thousand yards distant, and he told the officers so. The latter 
immediately trained their powerful field glasses on the tree but assured the Indian there was nobody on it. "Spose 
you watch," cooly replied Toney, and taking a careful bead, pulled the trigger. Instantly dropped the dead body of a 
sniper, and the astonished officers and men were raptured in their applause. 

On that occasion the General saw seven German snipers bite the dust, and particularly for this did the Nyanza 
Micmac earn the coveted V.C. Shortly after, Toney was gassed, and when the doctors thought he was fit for the 
trenches he was sent back. However, his eyesight became impaired, and he was sent home on furlough, and is at 
present with his mother in Pictou County....Admittedly one of the best snipers fighting under the Allies, the Cape 
Breton Micmc {sic} won the M.M., the D.C.M., and finally was awarded the highest honor accorded a soldier, the 
Victoria Cross." Toney was born at Nyanza, Victoria County, Cape Breton Island, NS. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 39.) 

18 January 1919 cross-reference 
....You wanted to know the names of two or three of the oldest Micmac residents on the {Elmsdale, N.s.} Reserve, I 
beg to say that the following are such names: Elewie Doodoo {French, Louis; Mi'kmaq, Lluwe Ku'ku 'kwes], who died 38 
years ago, his age unknown, but died from old age; also his brother, Newell {French, Noel} Doodoo, who died two or 
three years ago, at the age of 84 years; also Joe Howe (Jeremy) who has been living there since he was 14 years of 
age, and is now about 74 years old, and has been living there ever since he went there as a boy. It is claimed that 
their fathers before them also lived there.... 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: DIA Correspondence, 17. Martin Sack to H.L. Bury, Department of Indian 
Affairs, 18 January 1919. Draft by Harry Piers. Cross-referenced to Genealogies, 18 January 1919.} 

8 February 1919 
Jerry Lone-cloud, Indian 
When Jerry Bartlett (Lone-cloud) was about 17 or 18 years old, (bom about 1850 or 51), say about 1867 {JLC was 
almost certainly bom in 1854, he got to NS two years after the Civil War ended in 1865, so this event would have been more like 1872}, after 
Christmas probably, when Savary was running {"for" crossed out here} election, he went as camp boy with William 
Gilpin of Digby, with Governor {Chief} Jim Meuse (then about 4 4 years), Malti Pictou (who still lives), Johnny 
Peters (all Indians) as guides, and Jim Gorman as portager, and a cook also. Gilpin shot a doe caribou at Boundary 
Lake (west of Boundary Rock), in Shelburne Co., back end. {They} cleaned carcass, and Gilpin offered Bartlett 
$ 5 . 0 0 to carry out the caribou to Clark's. $ 5 . 0 0 a good deal in those days, & Bartlett accepted. 
He carried it from Boundary Lake to Clarks at Lake Jolly ( 1 8 miles); and for $ 2 . 0 0 more, from Clarks to Morgan's, 
4 miles from Bear River (8 miles from Clark's to Morgan's). Here he gave up carrying it, having carried it all way 
from Boundary Lake to Morgan's (total 26 miles), on his back. Then carcass taken on team. Bartlett then walked 
with Jim Meuse from Morgan's by a short cut to Digby (about 14 miles). The caribou when weighed, without 
insides, weighed 100 lbs. on scales at Digby, head and small homs, & feet. They reached Digby on the night of the 
election day when Savary was elected. They reached Cornwall's tavern at Digby. Gilpin had no business, lived on 
his money, sportsman, and had a big house with sporting trophies. Related to Dr. Edward Gilpin. He married a 
Smith. 
Once, about a couple of years before {1872, according to revised chronology above}, he saved 2 of John Darby's sons. Jerry 
Bartlett, and two Darby sons, and another man, were in a canoe off Digby town, and were capsized. Swam for some 
distance, and Bartlett saved the two boys, one 13 and another 15 years, but the man was drowned. This man was 
John Darby's first wife's brother. Bartlett received considerable praise for this. 
Once, when at Lunenburg, at Fisherman's Hall {previously transcribed as "Tichman's Lake"} about 3 0 years ago, {Jerry 
Lonecloud}carried two men together, one on each side of him; two men, one 2 4 0 lbs, and other 2 3 6 lbs, both {named?} 
Captain Geldert (brothers). Vide Jerry Lone-cloud (Bartlett), 8 Feb. 1919. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 40.} 



May 1919 
Pauls, Indians 
"Judge" Christopher Paul 

of Indian reserve, Spring Brook, near Shubenacadie, N.S.; died in summer about 1909 

Peter (Stephen) Paul 
"Big" Peter Paul, son of above, was born at reserve near Shubenacadie, N.S., on 10 May 1850. 
Vide Peter Paul, May 1919 {Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 41.} 

17 June 1919 
Anecdote of Micmac Indian and Nathan Hilton, about the Indian asking for Receipt for his fine for Drunkeness. 
Micmac Indian, Joe Pennawl {French, Bernard; Mi'kmaq, Pinal], who was always known as Joe Goose, was born at the 
Indian Reserve at Milton, near Liverpool, N.S., and later lived about Yarmouth, N.S. Once after being drunk he 
was hailed before stipendiary or Justice of the Peace Nathan Hilton, called "Judge Hilton", who had formerly lived 
about 1 mile above Bad Falls near Carleton, Yar. Co., but later resided in Yarmouth. Joe was found guilty of 
drunkenness and fined. He paid the fine immediately and then asked Hilton for a receipt for the money. Hilton said 
it was not the custom to give a receipt, and asked Joe why he desired it. "Some day," said Joe, "Judge Hilton die. 
Then sometime poor Indian Joe die, and he go up to gates of Heaven, knock, and ask St. Peter to let him in. St. 
Peter say what's your name, and Indian say Joe Goose; St. Peter say can't let you in here Joe, you drunk once. 
Indian say, Oh, but I pay Judge Hilton for that. Did you? say St. Peter, let me see the receipt. Me say, Judge no 
give me receipt. St. Paul {sic; St. Peter} say, You have to go get receipt from Judge Hilton, and how could poor Indian 
go looking all over Hell to find Judge Hilton!" 
Jerry Lone Cloud, Indian, says he very often heard this story down about Yarmouth among the Indians, etc., and he 
positively says that "Joe Goose" and Nathan Hilton were the persons (not Judge Turnbull as some tell the story of). 
Hilton was an old man when Lone-Cloud was a boy, say about 1866. The incident must have been about 60 or 70 
years ago. Vide Jerry Lone-cloud, etc. 17 June /' 19. Nathan Hilton was a Justice of the Peace for District of 
Yarmouth in 1866. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 42. Piers often varied his spelling of Lonecloud, with Lone 
Cloud, Lone-Cloud, or Lone-cloud sometimes appearing within the same document.} 

17 September 1919 
Micmacs. Paul or Bemenuit {Peminuit} Family 
The Micmac Indian name of "Big" Peter Paul of Indian Reservation, Shubenacadie, is: 
Beail Eggean Bemenuit {Piel Ekien Peminuit} Old Micmac Name for Paul Family 
Peter Stephen = Pierre Etienne 
Beail Eggean, which was very carefully taken down from the pronunciation of Jerry Lone Cloud, were clearly 
corruptions of the French Pierre Etienne, when we know that his names are Peter Stephen. 
As to the origin of the name Bemenuit {Peminuit}, it is stated it arose in this way. In the early wars of the Micmacs, 
on one occasion the women of the tribe went away in a canoe, while the men stood to give battle. While the women 
were thus on their way to the head stream of the Shubenacadie River, one of the Indian women while in the canoe 
gave birth to a boy child. This child and his descendents were called Bemenuit, which means, in Micmac, "Born on 
the way." They were called Pauls by the English. Vide Micmac Jerry Lone-cloud, 17 Sept. 1919. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 43 } 

4 March 1920 
Micmac Indians 
Two old Indians died of influenza on last Thursday, 4th March 1920, at the new Indian reservation at Truro, N.S. 
They were, Delair, widow of Soolien {William} Soowa, whose age was 82 years, and Louis Jeekouse who had 
reached the great age of 89 years. The latter was the father of Mrs. Joe Cope, whose husband is a well-known 
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educated Indian of Enfield, but lately of Lunenburg. 
Soowa, an old Micmac word meaning "He takes out what he brought in." 
Jeekouse, an old Micmac word meaning "Listen!" {According to Bernie Francis, this is an error; it is literally "great month", i.e. 
Christmas, and is now spelled Kji-ku's.} 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 44.} 

1921 cross-reference 
About 1888-86 {sic} 
Capt. Partridge 
Lewie Newell McDonald was out hunting with Capt. Partridge about 40 years ago [say about 1881] when 
McDonald was about 30 years of age [say about 1886]. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1921.} 

1921 
Chief William Paul, son of Joseph Paul of the Peminuit Paul line, was born 19 July 1858 at South Cambridge, 
Massachusetts. He was elected chief at Shubenacadie, N.S., on 26 July 1921. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 45. Present location undetermined. Transcribed from 
Whitehead, The Old Man Told Us, 1991.} 

1921? cross-reference 
Mr. Viddler's only guide in Nova Scotia was Misaal Beaal Bool Thomas {French, Michel Pierre Paul Thomas; Mi'kmaq, 
Misal Piel Pol Toma} (John Williams' second wife's father) {called in English, Michael Thomas, brother of Madeleine Thomas, who 
married John Williams; her father's name was Louis Thomas}. Known as Misaal B. Born at Sambro, near Halifax. Was for a 
time at Shubenacadie where he died. 
He built Viddler's camp at mouth of Rocky Brook, Wellington, Grand Lake. When they camped there, M. and 
Viddler both wore Indian clothes (pointed cap, etc.). {A pointed cap? Does he mean a woman's peaked cap? Surely not.} This 
Indian also went shooting several times with Viddler to Nfld. Never heard of Viddler having killing {sic} any great 
number of moose. Also Abram Barss ("Jiggley"), who was more as servant. He was no guide at all. Viddler drank 
a good deal. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1921 ca.} 

1921? cross-reference 
Indian Guides. {Campbell} Hardy considered John Williams and Joe Cope (vol. 1, p. 170) to be very fine Indian 
guides. Also Ned Nolan, the Glodes of Annapolis, and Joe Penaul of Chester, are all capital hands in the woods. 
( V o l . 1, p. 185) . {These volume and page references are to Campbell Hardy's book, Sporting Adventures in the New World, 1855,2 vols.} 
Joe Penall, Indian guide of Gold River, Lun. Co. 

In Memory of Joseph Penall, Indian, 
By William Chearnley, A.D.; 1859 
Gone to death's "Call" is Indian Joe 
Moose deer, rejoice, 
Here, buried, rests your deadliest foe 

Stone to Chearnley's Indian guide, in R.C. grave yard at Chester. 
(See DesBrisay Hist., Is' ed., p. 153) 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1921 ca.} 

18 February 1921 cross-reference 
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Sportsmen in N.S. 
Lord Dunraven's hunting in Nova Scotia. 1876. 
Lord Dunraven (apparently fairly young) came to Nova Scotia, and in the fall, about Sept., went calling moose with 
John Williams and Stephen Maloney (Indians) as guides, at Hunting Lake, on West Branch of Liscomb River, west 
end of Guys. Co., N.S. 
Then he went to Liverpool, Queens Co., and with John Williams and another Indian named Glode, went in the 
winter inland to Kejimkujik Lake, and to Big Tobeatik Lake, Queens, Co., and established his head hunting camp at 
south end of Big Tobeatik Lake. He hunted caribou on what has since been known as "Dunraven's Bog," about 10 
miles SE of end of Tobeatik {Tobeatic}, and there shot many caribou, said to have killed 15 Caribou, and got the 
Indians to cut holes in the ice of a lake and shove the carcases in, so that they would not be seen, and took some of 
the best heads, &c. 
When he came to Halifax, and stopped at the Halifax Hotel, he was prosecuted and fined for killing so many 
caribou; and he wrote a letter complaining of how he had been treated here. 
Lone-cloud, Indian, who told me this on 18 Feb. 1921, said he never met Dunraven, but had often heard of his 
exploits here, and says he killed the caribou in the winter of 1876. [4th Earl of Dunraven, born 1841, succeeded to 
title in 1871. He is the yachting celebrity.] 
Vide Jerry Lone-cloud, Indian, 18 Feb. 1921 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1921 ca.} 

19 February 1921 cross-reference 
Sportsmen in N.S. 
Viddler, about 1876 (?) 
Viddler {Piers wrote "Fiddler", then changed it to Viddler at the beginning of the article only} came to Nova Scotia, with his wife 
from Australia, where he owned a very large sheep ranch, and was a rich man. He had a house about 3 miles north 
of Sherbrooke, Guys. Co., N.S., at foot of the Stillwater, St. Mary's River, and had a store at Sherbrooke in the 
granite basement of a big house there. Had interests in gold mines here. He went moosehunting and salmon 
fishing, etc., in Nova Scotia; and went Caribou shooting in Newfoundland. 
Hunted at Grand Lake (Hx. - Hants Co.) Where he had a grand camp, and about Sherbrooke, Guys. Co., etc. The 
Micmac, Abraham Barss (also known as Abraham Paul), who was nicknamed "Jiggley" by the Indians, acted as a 
servant attendant, and helper for the Fiddlers and went about everywhere with them and was kept well dressed. He 
cooked, etc., but did not act as guide; other Indians & white men being Fiddler's hunting guides. Abraham went to 
Newfoundland when Fiddler went there for caribou, and travelled other places with them. Fiddler & his wife finally 
returned to Australia, and took Abraham with them there. Afterwards Abraham came back to Nova Scotia from 
Australia (probably about 1885). Abraham lived for about 20 years after he came back from Australia. He died at 
Halifax about 15 or 16 years ago (say about 1905). [Harry Piers remembers this Abraham Paul camping on side of 
Ginger Hill Road, near Halifax, about 1886 or 1887.] 
Lone-cloud thinks that probably Fiddler was here about time Dunraven was, say about 1876 (?) 
Vide Jerry Lone Cloud, Indian, from Abraham Barss. 19 Feb. 1921. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 19 February 1921.} 

26 February 1921 cross-reference 
Sportsmen in N.S. Micmac Indian Guides (good) according to Chief Isaac Sack. 26 Feb. 1921 
John Williams was the best. Lord Dunraven used to send some money every year to John Williams. (See also 
under Jim Glode). 
John Noel, with crippled hand {Piers means John Noel Cope, who had a withered arm.} Lived at Beaver Dam, Hx. Co. Been 
dead about 4 yrs. [Say about 1917] They said he killed 70 moose, but he said it was only 18. Vide Lone Cloud. 
joe Paul- Beaver Dam. (Husband of Mollie Cope) {Molly Cope was the widow of Francis Cope, and her second husband, Joe 
Paul, was called "Molly Joe" after he married Molly Cope.} Died about 10 years or more ago. [Say about 1910] 
Francis [Frankl Cope. Beaver Dam. (Son of Mollie Cope, above by her 1st husband {Francis Cope, Senior}). Died 



about 7 years ago. [Say about 1914] 
Jim Glode, of Bear River, Anna. Co., but now of Shubenacadie; still living aged about 90 years or more, and stone 
blind. He and John Williams were out with Lord Dunraven when he was hunting in Nova Scotia [about 1876]. 
Glode then went to Rocky Mountains with Dunraven [error] {Glode did not go with Dunraven} Lone Cloud says he went 
with Hon. Alexander & his brother to Rocky Mountains. The Alexanders came out here for about 25 summers. 
John Williams & Jim Glode were also out hunting with Prince Arthur when he was here in 1869 but they got 
nothing. Jim Glode was Micmac guide to Alexander to West of Canada. 
Joe Brooks, used to live at Truro, but now living at Stillwater. Is an old man now. (Used to make good oars). 
Memo. Isaac Sack was born near Dartmouth, where Truro Road branches from Preston Road, son of Peter Sack. 
He (Isaac) was bom on 15 June, 1855, and was 65 years old on 15 June 1920. In June 1917 he was elected Grand 
Chief of Micmacs. He lives at Shubenacadie Reservation. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 26 February 1921.} 

8 March 1921 cross-reference 
{Correspondence, hand-written, 8 March 1921; from Sarah Stayner, Halifax, NS; to Harry Piers, Provincial Museum, Halifax, NS.} 
Dear Mr. Piers, I received your letter this morning and I will be pleased to get you any information on the subject 
you are interested in. Unfortunately my hearing & memory have failed me very much lately, but I will do what I can 
to hunt up something for you. My husband and Charles Alexander made many trips to the wild west. They used to 
take a Mic Mac Indian with them named Jim Glode, but I do not know whether he is still living. I will consult with 
my son Carl and I am sure he will help me. It is just possible that we might find something of interest among his 
papers. Yours very sincerely, Sarah Stayner. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 8 March 1921.} 

March ? 1921 cross-reference 
Sportsmen in Nova Scotia 
Colonel The Hon. Chas. Alexander. Born London 1856, died there 1909. In 1876, hunting and mining in 
California. Come to Halifax first in 1879, hunted in Shel. Co. He came to this country every two or three years and 
hunted in Big Horn, North Wisconsin (?), wintering there about 1876 and hunting there again some years later. He 
made three or four different trips to the Cdn. Rockies, B.C., getting some splendid Grizzleys. Hunted and got a 
great number of Caribou in Newfoundland (about 1885, after his marriage). Hunted Elk in Tamiskeming, N. Ont. 
(After marriage) Started to go overland from Edmonton to Youkon {sic, Yukon} in 1899 but had to abandon it. (Was 
a rather large expedition. Yankee cleared out with cash &c.) Hunted on the Stickeen, B.C., in 1904, with his son, 
after bear and elk. Although he fished some times, his great love was for hunting. He generally hunted in N.S. 
every time he was here, often making an extended hunt in the West and returning here for the Moose season. In all 
his later trips he was accompanied by the Indian Jim Glode, who lived in the vicinity of Halifax. 

His father, the Earl of Caledon, when very young, hunted in Western Canada, spending some time with the 
Blackfeet, which tribe he accompanied on the "War Path" and was made a War Chief. It was on account of this that 
his son (Chas Alexander) visited them years afterwards. 
Charles Augustus Stayner. Hunted when quite young with the coloured man Ben Clark. Afterwards with the Indian 
Andrew Paul. As a young man, he went out every year, and afterwards kept it up to a lesser extent. His last hunt 
was in 1915 with his grandson. He hunted in every County in the Province, in part of New Brunswick and in 
Newfoundland. In his latter years he devoted himself more to fishing, as an accident to his back when a boy, made 
it difficult for him to travel in the woods. He was bom in Dartmouth in 1837 and died in Halifax 31 May 1918. 
Was not out west with Alexander. Went to Canada once with {Colsters ?} 
Edgar Greenwood Stayner bom 1835 in Dartmouth, died in Halifax 30 August 1882. He did more sporting in his 
latter years than his brother Charles, as the latter married earlier (about 1856?) And therefore had not so much 
money to spend. 
Vide {page torn; probably "Sarah"} Stayner; see entry for 8 March 1921 above. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 1921 ca.} 
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alone. Before he died, he came out to the settlement. Now dead. The Kejimkoojik club used to hoist a flag for him 
to come across with his canoe {to fetch them}. Abram Toney, good hunter, was found dead alongside the road, at 
Canaan River, near Tusket, Yarmouth County. Will Carthy was a good hunter as well. He was found drowned in 
Great Lake, Pubnico, the same day as Toney was found dead. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 47. Preston transcripts. Present location undetermined.} 

August 1921 
Jeremiah {Germain) Lone Cloud, Indian, was 12 years old on 4th July, the day of the Portland, Maine, fire, which 
occurred on 4 July 1866. He therefore must have been born 4 July 1854. He landed at Yarmouth, {Nova Scotia,} two 
years after that, namely in 1868. Correct, vide J. Lone-Cloud, Aug. 1921. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 48.} 

23 December 1921 
Mattio Salome or Seloom {Matthieu Jerome}, Micmac Indian hunter and guide, is said to have had 7 wives. He used to 
camp at Squaw Point, on west side of Ladle Lake, West Branch of the Liscomb River, Guysborough County, and 
also at Sloane's Lake {Salome's Lake}, about eight and a half miles SSW of Upper Caledonia, Guysborough County. 
It is said that he killed a wife at each of these places. After the death of each wife he abandoned his camping places 
at the lakes. His wife at Salome's Lake was found in the water after the ice broke up, and she was buried on the 
island in the lake. When he would be seen with a new wife, someone would ask him, "Hullo, Mattio, what's 
become of your old Mollie?" and he would reply, "Mollie may be die." He was a rather ugly man in appearance, 
but was a good hunter. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 49. Preston transcripts. Present location undetermined. Piers 
noted elsewhere that this story was untrue.} 

24 June 1922 cross-reference 
Indian Guides. Matteo Saloom {Matthieu Jerome} was a great big man; cross looking. 
Vide Jerry Lone-cloud, 24 June 1922. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 24 June 1922.} 

11 August 1922 
Major Jean-Baptiste Cope was killed (shot) at Point Pleasant, Halifax, and buried there. Lonecloud on authority of 
Indian, Joe Howe, who got it from his mother. Vide Jerry Lone Cloud, 11 Aug. 1922. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 51. Joseph Howe's full name was Joseph Howe Jeremy; he 
was named for the Nova Scotian premier, Joseph Howe, who was a friend of his father's. He went by both Howe and Jeremy.} 
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12 March 1923 
Micmac Indians. (Children.) Lone-cloud says that pure-bred Indians usually have only from 4 to 6 
children—having a child only about every 4 years. Only has heard of one instance of twins with Indians, and in the 
case probably was owing to European blood. Large Indian families are the result of intermixture with European 
blood. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 52.} 

2 April 1923 cross-reference 
Fishing & Shooting 
Indians' ability to find way through woods even at night. 
George Piers {Harry Piers's uncle} was out camping and moose shooting with Peter Joe Cope, Indian guide, somewhere 
east of Stewarts, Musquodoboit. Did not get a moose. Last day in woods following tracks, but not successful. G. 
P. said he was a fool staying so long, as he had to get the coach out the next morning. Cope said it would be all 
right. Piers to sleep for a while, & when he awoke found Cope had everything packed up. They started out in the 
dark, and the Indian went unhesitatingly through the untracked woods, till came to the shore of lake where canoe 
was. Went across lake, reached Musquodoboit road & cooked breakfast, and got the coach all right back to Halifax. 
Vide C. J. Mackie, 2 Ap. /23. MacKie says full-blooded Indians have this ability better than half-breed ones. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Harry Piers Papers. Original catalogued as "Box Nine, XIV. Sports, Fishing and Hunting (b) Notes". Cross-
referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 2 April 1923.} 

7 April 1923 
{not transcribed} 
Rough partial draft of Genealogies, 47 a. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 53 b.} 
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15 August 1923 
{Line drawing in ink (see xerox) by Harry Piers, as a key to a photograph of Mi'kmaw Chiefs and their wives at the Hector Celebration of 1923. 
This photo, by John F. Muir, Munro Studios, Pictou, NS, was accessioned as part of the Provincial Museum Collection, Piers Number 5389. 
The captions read:} 
1. Matteow {French, Matthieu; English, Matthew) Francis, Chief Pictou County 
2. Anieres {French, Agnes; Mi'kmaq, Antes] wife of M. Francis 
3. Marta (Martha) {French,Marthe\ English, Martha}, dau. of M. Francis 
4. Joe Julian (sub) chief of Truro 
5. Louisa, wife of Joe Julian 
6. John Sark, chief of all P.E. Island 
7. Wife of John Sark 
8. Grandson of John Sark 
9. J. Lone-cloud 
10. Sarbet (i.e. Elizabeth), Malicite {Maliseet}, wife of Lonecloud. In jacket & skirt borrowed from Prov. Museum 

(seenos. 3210 & 3576). 
Photo by John F. Muir (Munro Studio) 
P.O. Box 283, Pictou, NS 
Anieres: thrush song {Bernie Francis says this is not the meaning; "Anieres" is just the name Anies, or Agnes} 
Pictou Hector Celebration 
1st day, 15 Aug. 1923 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 54.} 

20 November 1923 
Micmac Indians. John Jadis, bom possibly about 1827. 
John Jadis, Indian, of Shubenacadie Reservation, N.S., is now (1923) about 96 years old, and has lived to see 4 
generations of his descendants. He is a half-breed, his father being bom an Englishman named Jadis, who lived 
once at or near Windsor, N.S. His mother was daughter of Indian, Gorham Paul, of Shubenacadie. John Jadis's 
first wife was daughter of old Lewie Morris of Shubenacadie. This Lewie Morris was one of the very best canoe 
paddlers in Nova Scotia, and used to successfully compete in canoe races, having as the rest of his crew, his 
brothers John Morris and Ben Morris. John Jadis had several children by his first wife. One dau. is wife of Lewie 
Newell McDonald, another is wife of Isaac Cope, and another is wife of Joe Cope. John Jadis's second wife had 
been Mrs. Thomas, widow of Michael Thomas. He had no children by his second wife. Vide Lewie Newell 
McDonald, 20 Nov. 1923. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 55.} 

20 November 1923 cross-reference 
Lord Dunraven in Nova Scotia, etc. Probably over 50 years ago. 
Lord Dunraven came to Nova Scotia and went to Birch Pond, Nfld., taking with him Indians Peter Cope & Lewie 
Newell {Louis Noel}, and the latter's foster son, Lewie Newell McDonald as camp keeper. Dunraven had another 
gentleman with him on that occasion, & then hired more guides. He used a single-barrel rifle, although he also had 
a smooth-bore. The Indians used smooth-bores in these times. Old Peter Cope was one of the finest moose-callers 
in Nova Scotia. They got 40 caribou on the occasion. On return to Nova Scotia, Lewie Newell had an arrangement 
as guide with another gentleman. 
Then Dunraven (after his return from Nfld) got John Williams as guide and went moose-shooting at Nelson's, 
Trafalgar, and shot about 3 or 4 big bull moose. The other gentleman not with Dunraven then. 
Then Dunraven to Shelburne Co., or somewhere to westward, with John Williams. Says Jim Glode not with 
Williams then. 
Then Dunraven took Jim Glode with him to Rocky Mountains. {This is an error. Jim Glode went with the Alexander brothers.} 
Capt. Dashwood was just as good a sportman as Lord Dunraven. 
Vide Lewie Newell McDonald 20 Nov. 1923 
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on course of events at Halifax. He only knew where he was. One day, this John, who was a great walker, walked in 
one day all the way from Halifax to Gold River, and took news that Harvey was all right again. Chearnley then 
returned to Halifax. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 58. The reason that Piers underlined the fact that the servant 
John was white, was that Chearnley had a Black butler, also named John: an escaped former American slave, John Shaw. There was a third 
John in the household: William Chearnley's younger brother John. Chearnley had thrashed William Harvey because Harvey had attacked John 
Chearnley with a whip for visiting a certain red-headed woman they both knew.} 

April? 1926 
{Piers extracted this from Cope Manuscript, above} 
Names of Micmac Indian families 
English Name Old Micmac Indian Name 
Morris Bench {?} 
Maloney Pelonie 
Paul (eastern shore) Usually called Eskekagooah, were Joguns 
There were three distinct families of Pauls in Nova Scotia 
Paul (of Cape Breton) Quassiag and Peminooitag 
Paul 
Glode Pichinag 
Stephen Squeegum 
Noel (Louis) Plowetchooti 
Francis Tgdpechg (twins) 
Cope Obsquoochg 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 59. Peminooitag is modem Peminuitaq; see the note on the 
origin of the name Peminuit, plural Peminuitaq. Plowetchooti derives f romplawej , Spruce Partridge. For Tgopechq, the correct Mi'kmaw 
orthography is Tqope'j, one of twins; or Tqope'jk, twins. English-speakers made it "Copage" when used as a surname. This list is abstracted 
from a letter by Cope to Piers, 29 March 1926.} 

April 1926 
Micmac Indian Guides 
According to Joe C. Cope, Indian Ap. 1926 
Joe Pennall of Gold River was a good guide for fishing. 
John Williams was a good all-round hunter, but was not as smart as Peter Joe Cope. 
Peter Joe Cope (uncle of J.C. Cope's father, Peter Cope). According to J.C. Cope, "everybody" says he was better 
than John Williams as a hunter. He always lived at Sheet Harbour Road, and died at Sheet Harbour when about 75 
{added by someone else: "97"} years of age. Died about 14 years ago (that is about 1912). He was an all-round hunter, a 
good caller of moose, a fast snow-shoer, and all that. Could get his moose anytime. Probably the smartest snow-
shoer that ever lived. Peter Joe Cope once started a black fox, when snow was on ground, at Indian Point, in 
morning of one day. The fox headed for Chezzetcook barren, then turned and followed up Musquodoboit River, 
crossed Musquodoboit River, worked around Meagher's Grant way, and finally circled back to about half a mile of 
where it had started, and there Peter Joe Cope shot it towards evening. It was said that he must have covered over 
40 miles that day on snowshoes. That was quite a feat that was often spoken of. Peter Joe Cope was with Capt. 
Chearnley, as guide, back of Sheet Harbour. 
Jim Paul, a very small man, was great for still-hunting moose (creeping). Peter Cope (J.C. Cope's father) said he 
did not think anyone could surpass Jim Paul as a still-hunter. 
John Cope (Peter Joe Cope's brother) of Sheet Harbour Road. He came on Monday to reserve at Indian Point, Ship 
Harbour Lake, and that day shot 10 (ten) moose. Went out to Musquodoboit settlement, and offered to get moose 
for 20 a pound for a white man at Musquodoboit, who would sell it. Cope went back to same woods and shot 15 
more moose on Wed., Thurs., Frid. and Saturday, and Saturday night he was paid off for the meat and on Sunday he 
went home to Sheet Harbour Road. Only man ever known to have shot 25 moose in one week, and he said he could 
have shot more. This was a long while ago. {Piers later wrote elsewhere that Cope himself had said it was only 18.} He told this 
to present Joe C. Cope, my informant. Cope has been dead about 4 years. 
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{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 60.( 

16 April 1926 
Abram Paul and the Bears 
About last of November or first of December of about 1887, Abram Paul, Indian, tracked in a little snow some bears 
to their den, about 1/4 mile north of the head of north end of Lake Major, beyond Dartmouth, Hx. Co. He was 
alone. Found an opening down which he went, and then a sort of long cavity, horizontal, about 15 ft. long, with the 
bears' den at its extremity. Crawled in with some birch bark, which he lighted for a torch. Saw bears in the den, 
and he then started shooting at them and killed 3. He thought he had shot them all, but it afterwards was found that 
there were 4 in all, an old she-bear and her three cubs of the previous spring. It was one of the young ones which 
was left. He crawled out of the den. The next day a crowd of men from Cow Bay went back to the bears' den with 
him, with ropes, etc., to drag out the dead bears. Old Frank Brooks, Indian, was one of them. They lowered Abram 
Paul into the hole with rope. While tying the rope to head of one of the dead bears, Aabram felt something touch 
his shoulder, and immediately knew that a live bear was still in there. Called for a gun. He crawled out, and got a 
gun, and went in the den again, alone. Then the outsiders heard the report of the gun, and he had shot the fourth 
one. It was considered very brave of Paul. The bears were all over a year old - a mother bear and her 3 cubs which 
had been with the mother, all the previous summer and were going to winter with her in the den. It was one of the 
cubs which was the last one shot. Vide Joe C. Cope, Indian, aged 67 years. 16 Apr. 1926 
{Piers drew a sketch of the cave-like den at the end of this note. See the xeroxed documents at the end of this section.} 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 61.} 

5 April 1927 
Micmacs. Vide Lonecloud 5 Ap /'27 
Chief Jean Baptist Cope 
Lonecloud heard from Joe Howe, Indian, who got it from his forebears, the story of how Jean Baptist Cope (!!) shot 
soldier at Richmond (Ke-bek), Halifax, just after having signed a treaty. 
He got from an old Indian woman {Maggie Paul}, the fact that the hatchet and a sword were buried close to a willow 
on the brook which comes down at Richmond (Mulgrave Park) after a treaty was signed by Indians at Halifax. This 
Story did not refer at all to Cope. {Old Maggie Paul confirmed this to Lonecloud at some point in 1922; she was about 75 years old 
then.} 
Chief J.B. Cope was a bad Indian and tricky, and Lonecloud thinks he also heard of his having killed a man around 
Memramcook, N.B. The Indians do not know just how he died or where he was buried, but they have a tradition 
that he was shot at Pt. Pleasant and no doubt buried there. He thinks he was murdered by Francis Paul (Beminuit) 
{Peminuit}. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 62. A later note by Piers adds, "buried by the Martello 
Tower."} 

6 April 1927 
Isabel, a well-known old Micmac Indian "doctor" woman (skilled in use of herbs and other remedies), was buried in 
old Indian burial ground on a little island, said to be the only island there, at head of tide in Country Harbour, Guys. 
Co., N.S. Hers was the last burial in that burial ground. ( Vide Indian Jerry Lone Cloud, 6 Ap. 191&) [This Isabel 
was no doubt the old Indian woman "Isabel", who the late John Noel, Micmac chief, told me {Harry Piers} used once 
to live at Chain Lakes (on the northern side between the upper and lower lakes, I believe), near Halifax, and that the 
Indians called Chain Lakes "Isabel's Lakes."] 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 63.} 

24 June 192{7?} 
The Indian who shot and killed his mother -in-law by the name of old Tumar {probably from French Thomas, Mi'kmaq 
Toma}, at Indian River, close to the Head of St. Margaret's Bay, Hx. Co, N.S., about a hundred years ago, according 
to Jerry Lone-cloud (who is also descended from Tumar) was named Sunislars (a Mohawk name, the meaning of 



which he {Lonecloud} does not know, and was also called Tom Wallace. He was a Mohawk, not a Micmac. He 
married a daughter of old Tumar at Indian River, St. Margaret's Bay, and lived there for a while. In a disagreement 
about his children going away with him, etc., he blamed his mother-in-law, and shot and killed her, firing at her over 
a fence. He was tried at Halifax (and the newspapers say the case was referred to the English government). 
Lonecloud says he was eventually turned over to the "judge" of the Micmac Tribe, to be dealt with according to 
their customs. The judge of the tribe then was the father of late Judge Christopher Paul. Tom Wallace, after 
coming before the Indian tribunal, was let go, on condition that he was never to come back again. He left his 
children at Port Medway, Queen's Co., and went back into the forest in the west of the province. Wallace's Lake in 
northeast part of Yarmouth Co., is named after him, as he located himself near there. Subsequently he disappeared, 
about 20 years after the murder. Dan Bowers, who was a great hunter, afterwards found his skull at Wallace's 
Ridge, about 3 miles south of Wallace's Lake, near Kempt, in northeast part of Yarmouth Co. Bowers and others 
recognized the skull as that of Tom Wallace, by the teeth, which had been worn in a particular way by his pipe. 
There were shotholes in the skull. About 40 years ago (say 1880) the skull was in the Yarmouth Museum and 
showed the hole from the shot. He probably was shot about 50 years or more ago. Jerry Lonecloud (alias Jerry 
Bartlett or Jerry Luxcey), who is a descendent of Tumar, says that it was understood that Tom Wallace was shot by 
his (Lonecloud's) {cousin?; space left blank}, Lewie Luxcey {Lluwe Laksi} (alias Bartlett), in which case it would have 
been in revenge for the murder Of the Tumar woman. {This is strange, as it is Jerry's mother who was descended from this Thomas 
woman (pronounced 'Toma' in Mi'kmaq, hence "Tumar"). There was no relation to his father's "Luxcey" side of the family.} Vide Jerry 
Lone-cloud, 24 June 192 {last digit missing where page is broken off from old age; it is probably 1927}. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology; Genealogies, 64. I have found accounts in the Nova Scotia Archives, of the 
trial of this man, whose surname is given therein as Paul, not Wallace, and who was to be pardoned for murdering Mary Ann Thomas, after 
serving two years, ca 1830.} 

22 July 1927 
Isabel, Indian doctoress, who lived near Chain Lakes, Northwest Arm, Halifax: Isabel Dodo {Ku 'ku 'kwes, owl; was 
sometimes written dodo or doodoo or googoo} was the full name of the Isabel the Indian who was a doctoress and lived near 
Chain Lakes, Northwest Arm, Hx. Co. Her family belonged to St. Mary's. She was buried on an island in the river, 
by Saulsman's between Upper Country Harbour and Cross Roads. Vide J. Lonecloud, 22 July 1927. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 65.} 

27 July 1927 
Francis Noel, Indian at Francis Knowels Neck {Francis Noel's Neck, named after him; this is also the derivation for what is now 
called Francis Nose island}, near Musquodoboit, Hx. Co., N.S. His proper name was Et-hoo-bay-etsh / eech: "One of 
Twins" {Mi'kmaq, Tqope'j, one of twins; or Tqope'jk, twins}. Always lived between Halifax and Cape Breton. Died at 
Francis Knowel's Neck. Vide jerry Lone cloud. 27 July 1927. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 66. Tqope'j is used as a Mi'kmaw surname, but as a surname 
in English usage, became "Copage."} 

March 1929 
John Williams, Indian Guide, Vide Lone-cloud 
John Williams, noted Indian moose-hunter, and his father, Paul Williams, were bom at "Williams Lake" on north 
side of outlet of Great Pubnico Lake, at that lake's south-eastern side, southwest part of Yarmouth Co., N.S. John 
Williams' first wife was a daughter of one of the Pauls, a chief at Stewiacke. His 2nd wife will be 84 yrs. old on 1 
Oct. 1929. Her name Magdalene {Madeleine} Thomas Williams. The first Indian settlement near Shubenacadie was 
at Snyder's {or "Snyde's"}, about lA mile NE {of} Shubenacadie, on Maitland Road, just below the old covered 
bridge. Later the Indian settlement was shifted up to Spring Brook, to present location. John Williams went as 
guide with Lord Dunraven, about 1876. Went by train to Hopewell, Pict. Co., and by road to Trafalgar, then to 
Island Lake 3 m. northeast of Hunting Lake about 6 Vi m south of Lower Caledonia, Guys. Co. (went in from Peter 
Cruikshank's near Middle Caledonia). Dunraven sent to his estate at Adare in Limerick, Ireland, in ice, the two 
hind quarters of the first moose he killed, a farrow cow. This was about the first of Dunraven's hunting in Nova 

32 



Scotia. Vide Indian Jeremiah Lone-cloud, March 1929. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 67.} 

2 October 1929 
Lonecloud 2 Oct/29 
Indian Peter Paul at Tannery baptised. Next Friday priest came to see him. Pot with meat in it. No Father that is 
not meat it is fish. No it is not. But, Father, it was meat, but I put water and salt on it and christened it Fish. 
Peter Al-a-go-martin a chief from Milton Yarmouth; he at French Landing {sic; to meet the French fleet in 1746} & went 
back {to Milton} & told about fever. He was killed (not known if by whites or Indians) & thrown into Milton Pond, 
for fear would get disease. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 68.} 

3 March 1930 
Late chief Big Peter Paul died at Amherst, 3 March 1930, aged 79 his last birthday. Born at the old Reserve at 
Snyders, Shubenacadie. Son of Judge Christopher Paul. 
Story about burying hatchet & sword at Richmond, told Lonecloud by Maggie Paul about 20 yrs. ago, when she was 
about 75 years of age. She also told about Cope shooting sentinel there. Her father lived about Ponook Lake. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 69.} 

April 1930 
Micmac Indian Jeremiah Lonecloud {Germain Laksi} died at Halifax, April {16}, 1930. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 70. Note in Harry Piers' handwriting, on outside of a printed 
envelope, "Parliamentary Papers / From King's Printer / Halifax, N.S." } 

n.d., after 1930 
Dr. Jeremiah Lone-cloud - alias Jeremiah Bartlett, alias Jeremiah Luxey. Micmac name Ha-sel-ma means 
medicine-man Of the Micmac Tribe. {It does not mean that; it is simply the Mi'kmaw pronunciation of his baptismal name, Germain; 
Mi'kmaq, Slme'n.} 
Born at Belfast, Maine, U.S.A. 4th of July 1852 {1854}, he was a son of Abram Bartlett Luxey {French: Alexis, Mi'kmaq: 
Laksi} who was born at Ohio, Shelburne Co., Nova Scotia. Lone-cloud is about 50 per cent Micmac and 50 per cent 
French stock. His wife's name was Elizabeth {Paul, a Maliseet woman}, who also resided in Truro and Shubenacadie in 
1927 to 1929. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 71. Preston transcripts. Present location undetermined. Jerry 
Lonecloud died April 16, 1930; this note postdates his death, as Piers is speaking of him in the past tense. Elizabeth Paul outlived Piers, so the 
past tense can't be for her.} 
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28 December 1932 
{not transcribed} 
A newspaper (name not known) article, not transcribed here, dated on or after 28 December 1932, entitled "Passes 
at Age of 106 Years", discussing the death of former Chief Peter Wilmot of Pictou Landing, who at the time of his 
death was living on the Truro Reserve, NS. Wilmot was baptized on St. Anne's Day, 26 July 1826, and still had his 
baptismal certificate to prove it. See xerox for the article, which was probably written by Clara Dennis, reporter for 
the Halifax Herald. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 72.} 

5 February 1933 cross-reference 
{Correspondence, hand-written, 5 February 1933; from H.S. Cruikshank, "Taxidermist, Game Heads a Specialty", 
P.O. Box 203, Phone 380-3, Truro, NS; to Harry Piers, Provincial Museum, Halifax, N.S.} 
Dear Mr. Piers 
Today I saw Alex Cope of the Indian Reserve in re the old Flink Lock gun I sent you. He is a man of 50 years and 
says the gun was used by his Father Alex or more commonly {known} as Sandy Cope, who died 1930 aged 76, and 
also by his Grandfather the late Frank Cope who died in 1915 aged 86. This Frank Cope was a son of that well 
known old Woman "Old Molly Cope" who died I think died about 1900 at the great age of 104. I well remember 
stories of her when I was a child told by my Grandfather who knew her well. For many years she made a business 
of catching Bear Cubs when very young and raising them until partly grown & taking them to Halifax, used to sell 
them at fancy Prices to Officers in the Garrison. At that time Bears were Prized as Pets or Novelties. This Molly 
Cope was said to have belonged to a Pioneer white Family somewhere in N.B. or Cumb. Co. and stolen by Indians 
when very young after she grew up she went back to visit her parents but only for a short time. When she returned 
to the Indians. You might find out more about her History from Miss Clara Dennis of the Halifax Herald, who 
wrote an article re her for the Herald not very long ago.... {Cruikshank then goes on to speak of a 'freak deer head' he has, and 
other non-ethnological subjects; this is not transcribed.} 
Yours very truly, Howard Cruikshank 
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{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Archaeology: Correspondence. Cross-referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 
5 February 1933. Cruikshank was a taxidermist who often collected artifacts, specimens and information for the Nova Scotia Museum, during 
Piers' term as Curator. I haven't been able to find Clara Dennis's article on Molly Cope.} 

28 February 1933 cross-reference 
{Correspondence, hand-written, 28 February 1933; from H.S. Cruikshank, "Taxidermist, Game Heads a Specialty", 
P.O. Box 203, Phone 380-3, Truro, NS; to Harry Piers, Provincial Museum, Halifax, N.S.} 
Dear Mr. Piers 
I saw Aleck Cope yesterday and he says Old Molly Cope's Husband's name was Francis Cope, who was drowned 
from a canoe near Indian Point, Ship Harbour Lake. {Piers adds: "Hx. Co." here} He was subject to weak spells or 
perhaps Fits & fell from canoe while in company with an Indian boy, & drowned. This man was a direct descendent 
of the Major Jean Baptiste Cope, who was first to sign a Peace Treaty with the English, although he was at one time 
very bitter against them, but after signing the Peace Treaty, had a great influence in bringing other Indians to sign, 
{p. 2 begins} 
Aleck says there is a missing link in their family History that he cannot find, between this Major Jean Baptiste Cope 
6 his great grandfather Francis, but says he knows for certain they are the direct descendants. He tells me that Dr. 
Jerry Lone Cloud, who you well knew, had a book with much Historical matter in it, pertaining to the old treaty, 
Laws, & some of their Family records, but he loaned the book to some American & never got it back. I wonder 
what became of the old Treaty written on Beaver Parchment which "Lonecloud" showed me on a visit to my Place 
not more than a year before he died. Now if you wish to write Aleck Cope, "The Reserve", Truro, in re to any 
thing, I am sure you will receive any information that he has or can get. You will find him very intelligent, a 
graduate of Truro Academy I think, and have found him a good Friend of over 24 years experience. 
Yours very truly, Howard S. Cruikshank. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Archaeology: Correspondence. Cross-referenced to Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 28 
February 1933. Piers added a note to this letter: "An. {answered} 2 March '33. Noted information under the musket received on 13 Jan. '33."} 
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Treaty, had a great influence in bringing Other Indians to sign." {Piers note in margin: "probably he was a grandson 
of Major Cope. I agree, and think his father was named Joseph or Bernard Cope.} Aleck Cope says there is a missing link 
in their family History that he cannot find, between this Major J. B. Cope & his great grandfather Francis 
Paul {sic; should read Cope}, but says he knows for certain they are the direct descendants. 

Grandfather: Frank (or Francis) Cope, b. 1829; d. 1915, aged 86. (He clearly must have been born after 1811 and 
before 1834.) He was son of above Francis {or Francois} Paul {sic; Cope} and his wife Old Molly Cope (she 
bom about 1796). This Frank Cope (b. 1829) was the original owner of the flink-lock musket, and used it. 
It passed to his son, see below. 

Father: Alexander ("Sandy") Cope, born 1854 and died 1930, aged 76 years. Apparently lived on the Indian 
Reserve near Truro, Col. Co. He also used the old flint-lock musket, and from him it passed to his son, see 
below. 

Present owner: Alexander ("Aleck") Cope, b. about 1883, as he is now (1933) 50 years of age. He is well educated 
(at the Truro Academy, it is thought), and very intelligent and respectable. Lives on the Reserve, Truro, 
Col. Co. H.S. Cruikshank has found him a good friend of 24 years experience. This family of Cope was 
always well spoken of. 

The Copes were all noted hunters. Even Edward Cope, the son of the present Aleck, a young man of 20 years, is 
considered the best hunter on the Truro Reserve. None of these Copes have been chiefs. From information per 
H.S. Cruikshank, obtained per Aleck Cope, by letters of 25 Jan., 5 Feb., & 28 Feb. /'33. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 73.} 

1 September 1933 
{Morris or Maurice Family Tree} 
Paul Morris, died at age of 100 years. Used to set traps near Buckingham St., Halifax (see acc. no. 348). {Buckingham Street now lies, in 

2003, beneath the Scotia Square shopping complex.} 

I . 
Mary Morris, his eldest child, b. about 1775, died about 1878, aged 103 years. Married a Thomas (she was grandmother of Isaac Sack). 

I I 
{Michael} Thomas Magdalene {Madeleine} Thomas 

married John Williams {his 2nd wife}. She born about 1842, and died at Truro Reserve, about Sept. 1931, aged 
89 years. (She was aunt of Michael Thomas, and great aunt of Edith J. Thomas.) 

Michael Thomas 
I 

Edith Jane Thomas bom 1912 
{Mary Morris married Louis Thomas, son of a Mi'kmaw mother and an English or French deserter. This family tree leaves out the sister of 
Michael and Madeleine Thomas: Marie Antoinette Thomas who married Peter Sack and John Noel; and may leave out others. Piers purchased a 
woman's peaked cap owned by Edith Jane Thomas, and made by Mary Morris for her daughter Madeleine Thomas; that is when & why Piers 
collected this family tree information.} 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Genealogies, 74.} 
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Piers Genealogy Note in the Nova Scotia Museum Library, but not in the Piers Papers: 

n.d. 
{Harry Piers' Note in a NSM Library book:} 
"Tom Phillips {maternal grandfather of Jerry Lonecloud} was born at camping ground at foot Big Indian Lake, head of St. 
Margarets Bay, and died at Three-mile Plains, Windsor, about 45 years before 1919, and there is a stone to him at 
the Old Parish Burying Chapel at Windsor, the stone put up by Judge Haliburton. This Christopher Paul {was not the 
Judge Christopher Paul, brother of Jacques Pierre Peminuit Paul but was the} brother of Frank "Winick" of Vinegar Lake, 
Hubbards. {See the Piers note under Place Names, on the origin of the name "Vinegar Lake", which was actually named Winik, after Frank 
Paul's childhood nickname.} This Christopher Paul came from the Reserve on Ingraham River." 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library copy of Campbell Hardy, Sporting Adventures in the New World, 1855,1:129-130: pencil notes in the margin of 
these two pages, in curator Harry Piers' handwriting. In 2002, Ruth Whitehead and Deborah Trask from the Nova Scotia Museum searched the 
Old Burying Ground, but could find no trace of this memorial. Grass has covered many of the stones, and vandalism has destroyed others.} 
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26 July 1912 
elected 
Thinks 5 dice 
Wab-a-nog-an(k) i.e. you play all night {now written wapnaqn} 
probably earliest game. Not played now. Rare. 
Al-tes-tanken(k) {waltestaqn} 
Round-dish play 
Al-tes (round dish) 
6 dice 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 3. Cross-referenced to Material Culture: Games.} 
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27 July 1912 
Shubenacadie July 27,h Indian Reserve 1912 
Chief pointed {appointed} names are as follows: 
M r . J o e H o w {Howe} 
Mr. Lewis N. McDonald {Louis Noel McDonald} 
Mr. Tom Moloney {Maloney} 
Mr. Martin Sack 
Mr. Abraham Hood 
Mr. Lewis Toney 
Mr. Noel McDonald 
Mr. Ben Paul 
Mr. Noel Philip 
Mr. John Brooks 
Mr. Andrew Abram 
Mr. Joe Paul 
Mrs. Joe Sack 
Mr. Levie McDonald 
Mr. Thomas McDonald 
Mr. Joe Phillips 
Mr. Peter Maloney 
{next page begins} 
Shubenacadie N.S. Indian Reserve July 27 1912 
John L. McDonald 
Captain pointed names are as follows: 
Martin Sack 
N. T. McDonald 
Abram Hood 
Joe How 
Noel McDonald 
Joe Sack 
Andrew Abram 
Ben Paul 
John Brooks 
Levie McDonald 
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Lewis Toney 
Joe Paul 
Newel Philips 
Mr. Joe Philips 
Mr. Alex Cope 
Mr. Peter Moloney 
{third page begins:} 
Elmsdale Indian Settlement, April 21, 1913 
We hear By appoint 
Jery lonecloud too interseed for the chief 
Peter Paul of Shubnacadie 

for one year the names 
are as follows 

John L. McDonald 
Martin Sack 
Joe How 
Joe Brooks 
Douglas How 
Peter How 
Lewis N. McDonald {Louis Noel, or Lewie Newell, McDonald} 
Levie McDonald 
Charlie Philips 
Noel Philips 
Irsoce {Isaac?} Man-
William Marr 
Birter {?} How 
Josepth How 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 7a-c.} 
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Christopher Paul, died about 3 years ago, was judge {and father of Big Peter Paul} 
I 

Big Peter Paul, Judge 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 9. Preston Transcripts. Present location undetermined.} 

12 April 1913 
Parchments (Commissions) and old stone beads, formerly in possession of Chief James Paul {Jacques Pierre Peminuit 
Paul} of Shubenacadie (stepfather of Chief John Noel) when Chief James Paul died {1895} Rev. Father W.F. Young, 
now of Yarmouth, but then of Shubenacadie or Enfield, it is said, got them, and Chief Peter Paul and Dr. Lonecloud 
think he must still have them, and the chief would like to get them back for the tribe. They are asking me to try to 
get them for them. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 10. See entries for 31 October 1915, 5 November 1925.} 

26 November 1913 
Indian Treaties 



1725. Date of articles of submission & agreement (treaty) with Penobscot Norridgwolk & St. John's Indians made 
at Boston, copy of which was sent by Gov. of Massachusetts Bay, to Gov. Cornwallis. In 4 June 1726 o.s {Old style} 
this treaty was ratified & confirmed by all Nova Scotian Indian Tribes {meaning Mi'kmaq and Maliseet, since New Brunswick 
was still part of Nova Scotia then}, at Annapolis Royal. (See N.S. Archives, p. 683), also Murdock's N.S., I, p. 435. 
25 July 1727. Treaty with Indians at Casco Bay. (Engraved in N.S. Archives, opp p. 572). 
15 Aug. 1749. Treaty of 1726 renewed at Halifax, the new treaty being signed by chiefs from St. John, & 

Chignecto. Renewed & reiterated & forever confirms the old treaty. Ratified at River St. John, 4 Sept. 
1749. This document is still in existence. (Engraved in N.S. Archives, opp. p. 572). This treaty little 
respected by Indians. {And little respected by the English as well.} 

22 Nov. 1752. Date of treaty of peace with Major Jean Baptiste Cope, Micmac Chief {never a saqmaw, he seems to have 
been little more than the sometime head of a war band}, Tribe of Micmac Indians inhabiting eastern coast of Nova 
Scotia. Dated at Hx., 22 Nov. 1752. Also elsewhere officially called Chibenaccadie tribe of Micmac 
Indians, inhabiting the eastern coast of N.S. Akins Hx. p. 33. This renewal, reiterated & forever confirmed 
the beforementioned treaty of 1725, ratified in 1726, & in 1749. (This treaty of 1752 is given in full in 
N.S. Archives, p. 683-685; see also pp. 671-674). Also referred to in Akins, Hx, p. 33. 

April 1753. Treaty of peace signed at Halifax with Glaude Gisigash {Claude Kisikej, Old Claude}, "Governor of La 
Have" Indians. Terms same as with Major J.B. Cope (1752). Some of tribe to come up to ratify treaty. 
Akins Hx., p. 40. Murdoch, II, p. 219. 

13 Feb. 1760. Two Indian chiefs, of Passamaquoddy & St. John River tribe, signed treaty of peace at Halifax, 
renewing the treaty of 1725. Akins, Hx., p. 52 & 64. 

10 March 1760. Treaties concluded at Halifax with three Micmac chiefs, viz. Paul Laurent, chief of tribe at La 
Have; Michael Augustine, chief of tribe at Richibucto; & Claude Renie {Rene}, chief of Cheboudie and 
Musquodoboit Indians. Akins, Hx., p. 65. 

25 June 1761. Treaty signed at Halifax by Joseph Sabecholouet, Chief of tribe of Mirimachi Indians. (Given in 
full in N.S. Archives, p. 699-700). 

15 Oct. 1761. Treaty signed at Halifax with Jannevil {Janvier} Pectougwash {Piktukewa'j = "person from Pictou"}, chief of 
Indians of tribe of Pictock and Malogomish {Pictou and Merigomish}. Akins, 65. 

9 Nov. 1761. Treaty of peace signed with Francis Muse, chief of tribe at La Heve. Murdock, II, 407. 
Summer of 1762 [not in Murdock]. Joseph Arguimault {L'ki'mu, pronounced ulgimu; 'He Sends"}, chief of Mongwash 

Indians, with followers executed a final treaty of peace & the war-hatchet buried, at Halifax (Akins, Hx., p. 
65). This document not to be found among papers preserved in Secretary's office at Halifax. (Akins 
footnote on p. 65). Doubtless the last treaty made with Indians in N.S. 

{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 14.} 



chief of that portion of the Micmac Tribe. I remain, your obedient servant. [To be signed by Peter Paul, Chief] 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 16. Draft of a letter by Harry Piers at the behest of Jerry Lonecloud 
and Chief Peter Paul, 15 March 1913. See entry for 12 April 1913; 5 November 1925. Piers evidently discovered the whereabouts of three 
documents, two of them parchment, which he borrowed for study in 1919 and returned in November 1925; there are no notes of recovered stone 
beads or wampum. Lonecloud told Clara Dennis that Chief John Noel sold wampum belts at Shubenacadie to Bob Goss, the Indian Agent.} 

9 November 1915 
Indian Reservation, Shubenacadie, Hants Co., N.S. 
This certifies that at a meeting of the Micmac Indians of Halifax, Hants, and Colchester Counties, held at Indian 
Reservation, Shubenacadie, Hants. Co., Nova Scotia, on Tuesday, 9th of November, 1915, Dr. Jerry Lonecloud was 
re-elected assistant chief for Halifax County, under Chief Peter Paul. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 17.} 

17 July 1916 
Indian Tradition about Treaty signed by Chief John Baptiste Cope, Micmac, at what is now Richmond, Halifax. 
Old Franklin Brooks, Indian, oar-maker, of Tufts Cove, Dartmouth, N.S., now about 90 years of age, told "Dr." 
Jerry Lonecloud, Indian, in July 1916, that his (Brook's) father had often told him about the Treaty made by John 
Baptiste Cope, Indian Chief, with the English at what is now Richmond at northern end of Halifax. The Indians 
called that place (what is now Richmond) Heen-tood-dimpk ("Hollo {holler} for toll", a canoe ferry being across 
from Tufts Cove encampment to encampment at Richmond, & the Indians so going back and forth). This Cope was 
a chief, living at Halifax in summer, and at Stewiacke in winter, and going and coming by way of the Dartmouth 
Lakes and Shubenacadie River. Chief Cope was then camped at Richmond, near the shore, and the treaty, the 
tradition says, was signed on the hill which is now Fort Needham, above Richmond. Tradition says the treaty was 
made with an English admiral, or some such official. Halifax was then woods, and the English ships were anchored 
at head of the Harbour, off Richmond, and the officials landed there. He said it was there the first treaty was 
signed. Must have been about 150 years ago. The Chiefs from Bear River, Partridge Island, Pictou, etc., also 
assembled here for the treaty. 

Just after the treaty was signed, an English sentry stationed in the vicinity used to call out in a loud voice, 
when in the course of his beat he came close to Cope's camp at Richmond, which disturbed Cope's sleep and 
angered him, & he swore to shoot the sentry. One night, when there was a heavy land fog, Cope came out of his 
camp, after being thus disturbed, and in the obscurity went close to the sentry and fired at him and killed him. Cope 
himself was therefore the first one to break the treaty he had just signed. Owing to the darkness and fog it was not 
known who had fired the shot and the Indians kept the matter quiet, and so Cope was never punished for it. Some 
French people were living in Bedford Basin, near what is now Fairview (French Landing), and their Priest used to 
minister to the Indians at Richmond. The Priest learnt from Cope, doubtless in confession, that he had shot the 
sentry, and the Priest told him and the Tribe not to do such a thing again. 

This old Cope family has died out now, and no male descendants are now left, most of them having no 
sons. The present Cope family is descended from Cope women, sisters or perhaps daughters of John Baptiste Cope, 
with Irishmen as fathers, Murphys and Knowlens, such as those about Fish Lake {Fish River}, at Murphyville, near 
Little River, Musquodoboit, the children taking the Indian Mother's name, and so being called Cope. Lonecloud 
thinks the name Cope was adopted by this family, from some officer or high official called Cope. {Not true. This name 
is Mi'kmaq, and appears on the 1708 LaChasse Census, listing Jean-Baptist Cope, aged 10; thus predating Sir John Coape Sherbrooke, who was 
the "high official" Lonecloud remembered.} 

Was the treaty spoken of above, the Treaty made by Major Jean Baptiste Cope, chief Sachem of Tribe of 
Micmac Indians of Eastern Coast of Nova Scotia and other members of the tribe, and Governor Hopson, at Halifax 
on 22 November 1752 (see Selections of Records of N.S. p. 683, also p. 673)? Or less likely, was it the treaty of 
August 1749 (see p. 573)? 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 18a,b. This was the Cope/ Hopson Treaty of 1752.} 



15 August 1916 
Chief Aleck Moose, Indian Reservation, Pictou Landing, Pictou County, N.S.; 
Chief Isaac Paul, Indian Reservation, Newville, Cumberland County, N.S.; 
Chief John Nockwed {Knockwood, from Mi'kmaq Nokut, meaning unknown; appears on 1708 Census as "Naucoute"}, Indian 
Reservation, Kentville, Kings County, N.S.; 
Chief Silbye {Sylliboy, from French Levi) Pictou, Indian Reservation, General's Bridge, Annapolis Royal, N.S. ( 8 
copies) 
Captain Tom Glode, Indian Reservation, Truro, N.S.; Tom Labrador, Indian Reservation, Bridgewater, Lunenburg 
County, N.S. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 19b. Draft by Harry Piers. These are the people to whom Item 19a 
was to be sent.} 

21 February 1917 
Declaration of Chief or Councillor. 
Dominion of Canada 
Province of Nova Scotia 
Halifax Indian Agency 
I John D. Paul do / solemnly declare that I will well and truly serve our Sovereign Lord / the King, in the office of 
Chief of / the Halifax band of Indians, without / favour or affection, malice, or ill will; that I will strictly obey all / 
the laws and regulations of our Sovereign Lord the King; that I / will to the best of my ability endeavour to prevent 
all contraventions / of the said laws and regulations by any member of my band; that /1 will report all infractions of 
the laws and regulations at the earliest / opportunity to the Indian agent over me; and that I will strive to advance the 
interests of all the Indians of my band morally and / financially, both by precept and example, and generally fulfil all 
/ the duties of the office to which I have been elected for three / years from Sept. 16th, 1919, to the best of my skill 



and knowledge. / That this document has been read through to me and / explained to me in the English language, 
and I understand the nature of the said Declaration. / Declared before me at River Bourgeois In the Province of 
Nova Scotia this 21st day of February, A.D. 1917, this Declaration having been first read through by me to the 
deponent in the English language, which he appeared clearly to understand, {signed} D.D. Boyd, A Commissioner of 
the Supreme and County Courts in and for the County of Richmond, Nova Scotia, {signed} John D. Paul his mark. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 21} 





20 March 1922 
To whom it may concern: 
We the undersigned members of the Micmac Tribe of Indians in Nova Scotia, hereby nominate Jeremiah Lonecloud, 
otherwise known as Helsalmah, as the Chief Medicine Man of the tribe. We also hereby nominate him as Chief of 
the Micmac tribe of Indians in Halifax County. We hereby signify our willingness to accept him as Chief Medicine 
Man and as Chief for Halifax County. 20th March 1922. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 31. Draft by Harry Piers, 20 March 1922.} 

18 November 1922 



1 December 1924 
Micmac Indians, (drafted 1 Dec. 1924) 
Halifax, Nova Scotia, 5th Dec. 1924 
We the undersigned Indians of the Micmac Tribe of Halifax County, Nova Scotia, hereby signify our wish that 
Jeremiah Lonecloud of Halifax, at present Chief Medicine Man of the Micmac Tribe of Nova Scotia and Prince 
Edward Island, be Chief of the Micmac Indians of Halifax County, Nova Scotia, with such powers as such 



chieftainship carries with it, and we agree to acknowledge him as Chief for that county. 
Memo: Jeremiah Lonecloud was appointed Chief Medicine Man of the Micmac Tribe of N.S. and P.E.I, on 9 July 
1923. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 35. Draft by Harry Piers, 1 December 1924.} 

5 November 1925 
Government of Nova Scotia {letterhead} 
Provincial Museum, N.S. Technical College 
Halifax, N.S. 5th November 1925 
Received from Harry Piers, Provincial Museum, Halifax, the following three documents relating to the Micmac 
Tribe, the same to be delivered to Rev. Father Thomas E. Sweet of Enfield, N.S., they having been loaned to Mr. 
Piers on 30 June 1919: 
(a) Ratification of Election of Louis Benjamin Pominout {Peminuit} (i.e. Paul) as Chief of Micmac Tribe, 28 April 
1814 (on parchment). {This document was purchased by the Nova Scotia Museum from Lonecloud's widow, Elizabeth Paul, in 1931.} 
(b) Ratification of Election of James Paul {Jacques Pierre Peminuit Paul} as Chief of Micmacs of Western Counties of 
Nova Scotia; 15 September 1856. 
(c) Acknowledgement of Address presented by James Paul, Chief of Micmac Tribe, to Prince of Wales, dated 6 
A u g . 1860. {Piers copied this text, but present whereabouts of the original are unknown.} 
Delivered in the presence of Joseph Perrin. Received above-mentioned documents pr. {per; from} Rev. Father T.E. 
Sweet, {signed} Chief Lonecloud, 5th November 1925. 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 36. Jerry Lonecloud and Harry Piers, 5 November 1925. This 
appears to have Lonecloud's actual signature on it; it is not a draft by Piers, but the actual receipt. See entries for 12 April 1913,31 October 
1915.} 

17 August 1927 
Provincial Secretary of Nova Scotia 
Halifax, 17th August 1927 
To: Harry Piers, Esq., Provincial Museum, Halifax 
Dear Sir: 
I am enclosing a letter from Mr. Ward Fisher, Chief Inspector, Eastern Fisheries Division, with regard to the rights 
of Indians, especially under treaties made many years ago, to fish or hunt at their will anywhere in the Province of 
Nova Scotia. If you have any information which would help Mr. Fisher would you please communicate with him 
direct? 
Yours truly, Arthur S. Barnstead, Deputy Provincial Secretary 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 37 a. Arthur Bamstead to Harry Piers, 17 August 1927. See37b-c 
for the enclosure.} 

10 February 1927 
{partially transcribed} 
Correspondence, typewritten, 10 February 1927; from Ward Fisher, Chief Inspector, Eastern Fisheries Division, 
Department of Marine and Fisheries, Halifax, NS; to Hon. W. L. Hall, Provincial Attorney, Halifax, NS. 
"Re: Rights of Indians....On July 16th last, William Labrador, Micmac Indian, was convicted before Magistrate 
Robertson, Bridgewater, for fishing for salmon in contravention of the Fishery Regulations, and a penalty was 
imposed of $25.00 and costs, or six months in jail. At the first hearing of the Court the contention of the 
defendant's counsel was that under the Treaty of 1752, between the Provincial Governor-in-Council and the 
Indians, the Indians and their descendants were granted free hunting and fishing privileges forever. The Court 
adjourned one day to give the defendant's counsel opportunity to present this phase of the case...." 
{Nova Scotia Museum Library, Piers Papers. Mi'kmaw Ethnology: Politics, 37 b-c. Ward Fisher to WL Hall, enclosed in a letter from Arthur 
Barnstead to Harry Piers, 17 August 1927.} 

^ A 



Information Later Appended to the Piers Papers, Politics: 

1945 
{Note by William C. Bon-ett, Down East:} 
"With the death some few years ago of "Chief Lonecloud", there was removed, perhaps the one Micmac who was 
easily recognizable to all Haligonians. He was "Chief Medicine Man" of the Nova Scotia Micmacs. With his 
graying hair, tied in neat little pigtails, and with gay ribbons woven into the end of the braids, he was generally to be 
seen for a few days of each week wandering about the streets of the city. 

In his role of Chief Medicine man, and quite a power in the tribe, he was in possession of a number of 
priceless historic documents, treaties with the white men, representatives of the British Crown, that extended back 
to the earliest days of the founding of the settlement on the shores of this harbour. They were thrust into an inside 
pocket of his coat, and bound with a long piece of string. Friends of the old Micmac tried to impress upon him the 
dangers which he took of losing the interesting documents. The late Harry Piers {d. 1940}, curator of the Nova 
Scotia Provincial Museum, argued with him in vain to allow them to be taken for safe keeping. "Lonecloud" was 
adamant. They were not to part from the custody of the Chief Medicine man. 

Then he learned his lesson. He made his way to the office of the Halifax Mail one day, where he was a 
seasonal visitor....On this occasion...he had a tale of woe. The precious papers had become lost. A story on the 
mishap appeared in the press, and in quick time came a call from a station in the Musquodoboits. They had been 
found on a seat in the waiting room, where 'Lonecloud' had apparently stretched out for a sleep while waiting for a 
train, and getting up, had not noticed the treaties had slipped from his pocket. Then it was that he finally agreed the 
precious documents should be placed in care of the museum." 
{William C. Borrett. Down East, Another Cargo of Tales Told Under the Old Town Clock. Halifax, The Imperial, 1945:44-45. No treaties 
were ever put into the keeping of the Provincial Museum of Nova Scotia. The museum does hold a document confirming Louis Benjamin 
Peminuit Paul as Chief, one of three documents which Piers had previously borrowed to photograph and returned to Lonecloud; the others were a 
parchment confirming the election of Chief James Paul, and the address of the Prince of Wales on his visit to Nova Scotia in 1860. This Borrett 
quote is not a note by Harry Piers, but was added to the Lonecloud file years after Piers' death in 1940, because it called in question whether or 
not Piers had acquired treaties from Lonecloud, for the Provincial Museum.} 

^ A 
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SOME FURTHER NOTES ON THIS COLLECTION: 

Jerry Lonccloud and Harry Piers 
Within this catalogue, the bulk of the information came to Harry Piers from a single individual. Jerry Lonccloud. 

Jerry Lonccloud was a Mi'kmaw showman, a star in various international medicine companies, including Buffalo 
Bill Cody's Wild West Show and the Kiowa Medicinc Show, which he himself founded. He performed as a crack 
shot and storyteller, often using his knowledge of medicinal plants to create various tonics for sale. "People's 
mouths is my best testimonials," he said, telling of his remedies. Lonccloud was bom 4 July 1854 in Belfast, 
Maine, to Mi'kmaw parents from Nova Scotia. They named him Germain Banlett Laksi. (Lonccloud was his stage 
name.) He married a Maliscct woman. Elizabeth Paul, and fathered eight children. Lonecloud died m Halifax. 
Nova Scotia, on 16 April 1930, and is buried in the Roman Catholic ccmetery in Dartmouth. NS. 

Harry Piers met Jerry Lonccloud in 1910. In August of that year, Lonecloud began bringing artifacts to Piers at the 
museum, and the two men established a relationship of mutual mist and respect that lasted for the next twenty years. 
Lonecloud provided Harry Piers with a wealth of information about Mi'kmaw history, folk medicine, ceremonies, 
language, and oral histories, and shared his knowledge of plants, animals, and geography. On several occasions. 
Piers arranged for portrait photographs of Lonecloud to be taken by local studios for the museum collection. 
To access these images, sec the Mi'kmaq Portraits Website of the Nova Scotia Museum, at this address: 
http://museum.pov.ns.ca/mikmaq 

Piers (b 1870), made copious notes on many subjects, ranging from Mi'kmaw culture to topics of natural history, 
using information which Lonecloud, as well as other Mi'kmaq, provided. Lonccloud bccamc Piers' primary advisor 
on Mi'kmaw matters, and Piers drafted letters for Lonecloud. including a number of petitions to the Department of 
Indian Affairs. Other scholars began writing to Piers, asking him for Lonecloud's help with their research. When 
Harry Piers died suddenly in January 1940, much of the museum's Mi'kmaw collections were placed in storage. 

Jerry Lonecloud and the Nova Scotia Museum Online 
During the long collaboration between the museum and Lonccloud, Harry Piers recorded Lonecloud's oral histories 
and stones, Mi'kmaw vocabulary, place-names, and observations on the habits of animals, just as Lonecloud 
recounted them in his visits to the museum This information is archived with the Piers Papers in the Nova Scona 
Museum Library, and is available on a Nova Scotia Museum website. "JcTTy Lonccloud and the Nova Scotia 
Museum: Piers Papers." Some of Harry Piers drawings of the artifacts collected by Lonccloud arc also online. 
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